CSCC Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers

Clinical Trials Consortium

Dexamethasone for ACS

Study Information Manual V3.0

March 10, 2008



SCC Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers

Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome STUDY INFORMATION MANUAL

Table of Contents

I. **INTRODUCTION**

- A. Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers Clinical Trials Network Description
- B. CSCC Organizational Chart

II. **DEXAMETHASONE CONTACT INFORMATION**

- A. Dexamethasone Protocol Development Committee
- B. Dexamethasone SDMC Study Team
- C. Dexamethasone Site Investigators
- D. Dexamethasone Site Study Coordinators
- E. Dexamethasone Site Pharmacists
- F. Dexamethasone Contacts for Study-Related Issues
- G. Dexamethasone Contacts for Central Laboratories

III. **IRB PROCESS**

- A. Approval Procedures
- B. Informed Consent Content Checklist
- C. Sample Consent and Assent Forms

IV. **DEXAMETHASONE OVERVIEW**

- A. Background and Rationale
- B. Project Flow Diagram
- C. Protocol Overview
- D. Subject Flow Diagram
- E. Project Timeline
- F. References

V. **CENTER ENROLLMENT PLAN**

A. Site Set-up

- B. Site Initiation Visit
- C. Subject Screening
- D. Inclusion Criteria
- E. Exclusion Criteria
- F. Privacy, Confidentiality, Security of Data
- G. Reimbursement/Compensation
- H. Assessing Literacy
- I. Subject Study Withdrawal or Discontinuation
- J. Training

VI. STUDY ACTIVITIES

- A. Patient Recruitment and Eligibility
- B. Obtaining Informed Consent
- C. Daily Activity Visit Checklist
- D. Table of Clinical Evaluations and Procedures
- E. Dexamethasone Dosing Chart
- F. Randomization and Masking
- G. Pain Intensity Rating
- H. Subject Compensation
- I. Principal Investigator Quality Control and Documentation

VII. WEBSITE OVERVIEW

- A. Website Content
- B. CSCC Website Instructions
- C. CSCC Website Access Form
- D. Electronic Data Capture Instructions

VIII. DATA COLLECTION

- A. Assignment of ID Numbers
- B. CSCC ID Number Assignment Log
- C. Electronic Data Capture (EDC)
- D. Source Documentation
- E. Monitoring Visits

IX. RHORAND

- A. RhoRAND Links
- B. RhoRAND Reference Guides
- C. RhoRAND Training Slides
- D. RhoRAND Worksheet

X. RHOLAB

- A. RhoLAB Links
- B. RhoLAB Processing chart
- C. RhoLAB Training Slides
- D. RhoLAB Visio flow chart
- E. RhoLAB Guidelines for Obtaining and Processing Samples
- F. RhoLAB Tracking log
- G. RhoLAB Lab Kit Supply Order Form

XI. GENERAL STUDY POLICIES

- A. Site Approval Process
- B. Confidentiality and Security of Data
- C. Subject Study Withdrawal or Discontinuation
- D. Adverse Event and Serious Adverse Event Reporting
- E. Study Suspension Guidelines
- F. Protocol Deviations
- G. Source Documentation

XII. REGULATORY DOCUMENTS

- A. Regulatory Documents completion instructions
- B. FDA 1572 form
- C. Roxane Financial Disclosure form
- D. American Regent Financial Disclosure form
- E. Dexamethasone Signature and Responsibility Log

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers Clinical Trials Network Description

The Division of Blood Diseases and Resources (DBDR) of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI), National Institutes of Health (NIH), provides support to the Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers (CSCC) to focus on multi-disciplinary programs of basic, applied, and clinical research, and also to include relevant service activities in diagnosis, counseling, and education concerning sickle cell disease and related disorders.

The NIH established the Comprehensive Sickle Cell Center Program in 1972, in response to a Presidential initiative and Congressional mandate. Following an open competitive application process, ten Centers were funded in 1972 and five additional Centers were funded in 1973. The ten Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers funded for the current five year cycle (as of 4/1/03) are: Boston Medical Center CSCC, Albert Einstein CSCC, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia CSCC, Cincinnati Children's Hospital CSCC, Duke-UNC CSCC, Marian Anderson CSCC, Children's Hospital and Research Center at Oakland CSCC, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital CSCC, The University of Texas Southwestern CSCC, and University of Southern California CSCC.

Sickle Cell Center grants are identifiable units within sponsoring institutions that are organized around a group of investigators and other health professionals engaged in ongoing basic and clinical research and community service related to sickle cell disease. Centers provide support for multi-disciplinary programs of basic, clinical, and behavioral research; for core resources such as laboratory and data analysis; and for quality service activities including diagnosis, counseling, and education.

While a Center must devote its major effort to basic and clinical research, it must also provide supporting activities in diagnosis, education, and counseling. It is anticipated that the total program, i.e., all ten Centers combined, will achieve a mix of outstanding projects that are two-thirds research oriented and one-third devoted to supporting activities. The actual balance between research and other activities will vary from Center to Center and will depend on local circumstances and strengths.

Each Comprehensive Sickle Cell Center is headed by a Program Director who is responsible for and provides leadership to all Center activities, and who may serve as principal investigator on one or more of the projects contained within the Center as well. Although individuals may enjoy a certain amount of autonomy in the conduct of a specific project, each is directly accountable to the Center Program Director, who has overall responsibility for program coordination, implementation, and evaluation.

The Statistics and Data Management Center (SDMC) located at Rho, Inc., in Chapel Hill, North Carolina, is a completely independent resource core that provides project and data management, regulatory, statistical, and other services for the CSCC Centers sharing common clinical protocols, as well as supplying statistical support for all research projects within the Comprehensive Sickle Cell Center program. The SDMC coordinates and organizes the clinical collaboration between the ten centers, and serves as the primary unit to collect, manage, statistically analyze, and store clinical data obtained from the individual Centers.

In addition to these duties, the SDMC has the responsibility of overseeing and managing all aspects of a common patient database (C-Data) that will be used as a tool for the Steering Committee to plan collaborative clinical studies during the funding cycle.

The Collaborative Data Project (C-Data) will establish a comprehensive database of individuals from participating Centers who are potentially eligible for inclusion in any sickle cell research study. Such studies include observational (incidence/prevalence, cohort, case-control, cross-sectional) as well as interventional (randomized clinical trials) investigations. Possible study endpoints include traditional clinical and therapeutic measurements, health resource utilization, and patient-reported outcomes.

B. CSCC Organizational Chart



II. DEXAMETHASONE CONTACT INFORMATION

A. Dexamethasone Protocol Development Committee

Charles T. Quinn, M.D.

UTS CSCC The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas (CMC) Pediatrics Department 5323 Harry Hines Boulevard Dallas, TX 75390-9063 Phone (214) 648-3896 Fax (214) 648-3122 <u>Charles.guinn@utsouthwestern.edu</u>

Marie Stuart, M.D.

MAC CSCC Thomas Jefferson University (TJU) 1025 Walnut Street College Building., Suite 727 Philadelphia, PA 19107 Phone (215) 955-9820 Fax (215) 955-8011 marie.stuart@jefferson.edu

Kenneth Ataga, M.D.

DNC CSCC University of North Carolina (UNC) Division of Hematology/Oncology UNC, CB #7305 2009 Old Clinic Bldg. Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Phone (919) 843-7708 Fax (919) 966-6735 Kenneth ataga@med.unc.edu

Lori Styles, M.D.

NCC CSCC Children's Hospital & Research Dept. of Hematology/Oncology (OAK) 747- 52nd Street Oakland, CA 94609 Phone (510) 428-3553 Fax (510) 450-5647 Istyles@mail.cho.org

Win Wang, M.D.

STJ CSCC Department of Hematology/Oncology 332 North Lauderdale Bldg R-6010 Mail Stop Code 763 Memphis, TN 38105 Phone (901) 495-3497 Fax (901) 495-2952 winfred.wang@stjude.org

Kim Smith-Whitley, M.D.

CHP CSCC Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Division of Hematology 34th and Civic Center Blvd. Philadelphia, PA 19107 Phone (215) 590-1662 Fax (215) 590-3992 whitleyk@email.chop.edu

Karen Kesler, Ph.D.

Rho, Inc. 6330 Quadrangle Dr. Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone (919) 408-8000 x244 Fax (919) 408-0999 <u>kkesler@rhoworld.com</u>

B. Dexamethasone SDMC Study Team

Rho Federal Systems, Inc. 6330 Quadrangle Drive Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone (919) 408-8000 Fax (919) 408-0999 www.rhoworld.com

Susan Lieff, PhD Principal Investigator/Protocol Chair (919) 408-8000 ext. 467 slieff@rhoworld.com

Karen Kesler, Ph.D. Co-Principal Investigator (919) 408-8000 ext. 244 kkesler@rhoworld.com

Marsha McMurray Project Director (919) 408-8000 ext. 279 mmcmurray@rhoworld.com

Melanie Chelednik Study Coordinator (919) 408-8000 ext. 356 Melanie_chelednik@rhoworld.com

Allison Overington Research Associate (919) 408-8000 ext. 581 allison_overington@rhoworld.com Petra LeBeau, Sc.D. Sr. Biostatistician (919) 408-8000 ext. 227 plebeau@rhoworld.com

Alicia McNeil Clinical Data Associate (919) 408-8000 ext. 293 amcneil@rhoworld.com

Amanda Guffey Clinical Trials Associate (919) 408-8000 ext. 352 aguffey@rhoworld.com

Holly Forde Clinical Trials Associate (919) 408-8000 ext. 207 hforde@rhoworld.com

Rupa Redding-Lallinger, MD Medical Monitor (919) 966-8080 Emergency Phone: (919) 216-3522 rredding@med.unc.edu

Help Desk: 1-888-DEX-9110 Hours: 8 a.m. – 12 midnight ET Days: 7 days/week excluding company holidays

C. Dexamethasone Site Investigators

Charles T. Quinn, M.D.

UTS CSCC The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas (CMC) Pediatrics Department 5323 Harry Hines Boulevard Dallas, TX 75390-9063 Phone (214) 648-3896 Fax (214) 648-3122 <u>Charles.guinn@utsouthwestern.edu</u>

Cage Johnson, MD

USC CSCC RMR 304 2025 Zonal Ave Los Angeles, CA 90023 Phone (232) 442-1259 Fax (232) 226-4467 cagejohn@usc.edu

Kenneth Ataga, M.D.

DNC CSCC University of North Carolina (UNC) Division of Hematology/Oncology UNC, CB #7305 2009 Old Clinic Bldg. Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Phone (919) 843-7708 Fax (919) 966-6735 Kenneth_ataga@med.unc.edu

Kim Smith-Whitley, M.D.

CHP CSCC Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHP) Division of Hematology 34th and Civic Center Blvd. Philadelphia, PA 19107 Phone (901) 495-3497 Fax (901) 495-2952 whitleyk@email.chop.edu

Carlton Dampier, M.D.

MAC CSCC St. Christopher's Hospital (SCH) Erie Avenue at Front Street Philadelphia, PA 19134-1095 Phone: (215) 427-5261 Fax: (215) 427-4281 Email: <u>cd33@drexel.edu</u>

Win Wang, MD

STJ CSCC St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (STJ) Department of Hematology/Oncology 332 North Lauderdale Bldg R-6010 Mail Stop Code 763 Memphis, TN 38105 Phone (901) 495-3497 Fax (901) 495-2952 winfred.wang@stjude.org

Matthew Heeney, MD

BOS CSCC Children's Hospital Boston (CHB) Clinical Director, Sickle Cell Program Fegan 704 300 Longwood Ave. Boston, MA 02115 Phone: (617) 355-7700 Fax: (617) 730-0641 matthew.heeney@childrens.harvard.edu

Ashok Raj, M.D.

MAC CSCC University of Louisville (KCH) Donald Baxter Research Bldg. 571 South Preston Street, Suite 445 Louisville, KY 40202-1760 Phone: (502) 852-8450 Fax: (502) 852-8453 a0raj001@louisville.edu

Lori Styles, M.D.

NCC CSCC Children's Hospital & Research Dept. of Hematology/Oncology (OAK) 747- 52nd Street Oakland, CA 94609 Phone (510) 428-3553 Fax (510) 450-5647 Istyles@mail.cho.org Ted Wun, M.D. UCD CSCC UC Davis Medical Center (UCD) 4501 Street Sacramento, CA 95817 Phone: (916) 734-3772 Fax: (916) 734-7946 Email: ted.wun@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu

Joan Parkhurst-Cain, M.D.

UTS CSCC Sickle Cell Program, Children's Hospital of Oklahoma (UOK) 940 N.E. 13th Street Room 3308 Oklahoma City, OK 73104 Phone: (405) 271-5311 Fax: (405) 271-3756 Email: joan-cain@ouhsc.edu

D. Dexamethasone Site Study Coordinators (to date)

Susan Reyes

UTS CSCC Children's Medical Center of Dallas (CMC) 1935 Motor Street Dallas, TX 75235 Phone: (214) 456-8069 Fax: (214) 456-5097 Email: <u>elizabeth.shull@childrens.com</u>

Kimberly Kushner, CRNP

MAC CSCC St. Christopher's Hospital for Children (SCH) Erie at Front Street Philadelphia, PA 19134 Phone: (215) 427-5969 Fax: Email: <u>kimberly.kushner@tenethealth.com</u>

MaryLou MacDermott, CRNP

MAC CSCC St. Christopher's Hospital for Children (SCH) Erie at Front Street Philadelphia, PA 19134 Phone: (215) 427-6523 Fax: (215) 427-4281 Email: marylou.macdermott@tenethealth.com

Amber Smith

BOS CSCC Children's Hospital of Boston (CHB) 300 Longwood Avenue Fegan 717.2 Boston, MA 02115 Phone: (617) 355-3748 Fax: (617) 730-0018 Email: <u>Amber.Smith@childrens.harvard.edu</u>

Tiffany Kang

BOS CSCC Children's Hospital of Boston (CHB) 300 Longwood Avenue Fegan 717.2 Boston, MA 02115 Phone: (617) 355-7203 Fax: (617) 730-0018 Email: tiffany.kang@childrens.harvard.edu

Claudia Grandinetti, NP

MAC CSCC University of Louisville (KCH) 601 South Floyd Street, Suite 403 Louisville, KY 40202 Phone: (502) 629-7750 Fax: (502) 629-7784 Email: cagran01@gwise.louisville.edu

Kellie Kopp, RN

MAC CSCC Kosair Children's Hospita1 (KCH) 571 S. Floyd St. Rm.445 Louisville, KY 40202-3830 Phone: (502) 852-8457 kskopp01@gwise.louisville.edu

Henrietta Enninful-Eghan

CHP CSCC Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHP) The Wood Building - Room 4342 34th Street and Civic Center Blvd Philadelphia, PA 19104 Phone: (267) 426-7492 Fax: (215) 590-3992 Email: <u>eghan@email.chop.edu</u>

LaVerne Murphy

CHP CSCC Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHP) The Wood Building - Room 4342 34th Street and Civic Center Blvd Philadelphia, PA 19104 Phone: (267) 426-5157 Fax: (267) 426-2830 Email: murphyla@email.chop.edu

Tannoa Jackson

CHP CSCC Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHP) Division of Hematology 34th Street and Civic Center Blvd Philadelphia, PA 19104 Phone: (267) 426-9338 Fax: (215) 590-3992 Email: jacksont1@email.chop.edu

Martina Garcia

UCD CSCC University of California, Davis (UCD) General Internal Medicine Investigative Clinic 2000 Stockton Blvd. Suite 100 B Sacramento, CA 95817 Phone: (916) 734-5562 Fax: (916) 703-5057 Email: martina.garcia@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu

Lynn Wynn

St. Jude Children's Research Hospital CSCC Dept of Hematology/Oncology 332 N. Lauderdale Bldg R-6010 Mail Stop Code 763 Memphis, TN 38105 Phone: (901) 495-4752 Fax: (901) 495-2592 Email: Lynn.Wynn@STJUDE.ORG

Susan Jones

Duke / UNC CSCC University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (UNC) 3108 APCF, CB 7600 UNC Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Phone: (919) 966-6876 Fax: (919) 843-1313 Email: <u>skjones@med.unc.edu</u>

Pat Corley

USC CSCC RMR 304 2025 Zonal Ave Los Angeles, CA 90023 Phone: (323) 442-1259 Fax: (323) 226-4407 Email: <u>patcorle@usc.edu</u>

Annette Johnson

UTS CSCC Sickle Cell Program, Children's Hospital of Oklahoma (UOK) 940 N.E. 13th Street Room 3308 Oklahoma City, OK 73104 Phone: (405) 271-5311 Fax: (405) 271-3756 Email: <u>annette-johnson@ouhsc.edu</u>

Christina Gonzalez

Southwestern CSCC Sickle Cell Program, Children's Hospital of Oklahoma (UOK) 940 NE 13 MR 3000 Oklahoma City, OK 73104 Phone: (405) 271-4412 ext. 42551 Fax: (405) 271-5602 Email: <u>christina-gonzalez@ouhsc.edu</u>

Brooke Lott

UCD CSCC University of California, Davis (UCD) General Medicine Research Group 2000 Stockton Blvd. Suite 100 Sacramento, CA 95817 Phone: (916) 734-5562 Fax: (916) 739-6525 Email: <u>brooke.lott@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu</u>

Maureen Meier, RN, CCRC

MAC CSCC St. Christopher's Hospital for Children (SCH) Erie Avenue at Front Street Philadelphia, PA 19134-1095 Phone: (215) 427-3835 Fax: (215) 427-4281 Email: maureen.rockstein@tenethealth.com

E. Dexamethasone Site Pharmacists

Sonia Gonzalez, Pharmacist

UTS Medical Center at Dallas (CMC) Children's Medical Center Dallas 1935 Motor Street Dallas, TX 75235 Phone: (214) 456-6209 Fax: (214) 456-8073 sonia.gonzalez@childrens.com

Tricia Roth, CPhT, Central Pharmacy

UTS Medical Center at Dallas (CMC) Children's Medical Center Dallas 1935 Motor Street Dallas, TX 75235 Phone: (214) 456-5619 Fax: (214) 456-6061 <u>Tricia.roth@childrens.com</u>

Rocco Anzaldi R.Ph.

BOS CSCC Children's Hospital Boston (CHB) Central Pharmacy Main-SB 300 Longwood Avenue Boston, MA 02115 Phone: (617) 355-2014 Fax (Non confidential): (617) 730-0601 Email: rocco.anzaldi@childrens.harvard.edu

William Choi RPh

MAC CSCC St. Christopher's Hospital for Children (SCH) Department of Pharmacy Erie Avenue and Front St. Philadelphia, PA 19134-1095 Phone: (215) 427-5356 Fax: (215) 427-4827 Email: <u>William.choi@tenethealth.com</u>

Julie Akamine, Pharm D (Thursdays, Fridays) Steve Oakes, Pharm. D (Monday – Wednesday) NCC CSCC

Children's Hospital & Research at Oakland (OAK) Attention: Inpatient Pharmacy, 3rd Floor 747 - 52nd Street Oakland, CA 94609 Phone: (510) 428-3885 x5771 Fax: (510) 428-3094 Email: jakamine@mail.cho.org Email: soakes@mail.cho.org

Debra Kumm, R.Ph

UTS CSCC University of Oklahoma (UOK) Clinical Coordinator Investigational Drug Service Pharmacy Room 5E219 Everett Tower 1200 Everett Drive OKC, OK 73104 Phone: (405) 271-5018 Fax: (405) 271-7380 Email: Debra.kumm@hcahealthcare.com

David Bowling, Research Pharmacy Tech BOS CSCC Children's Hospital Boston (CHB) Central Pharmacy Main-SB 300 Longwood Avenue Boston, MA 02115 Phone: (617) 355-6803 Fax: (617) 730-0605 Email: <u>david.bowling@childrens.harvard.edu</u>

Laureen Murphy Kotzer, RPh

CHP CSCC The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHP) Pharmacy Dept., Room A69 34th & Civic Center Blvd Philadelphia, PA 19104 Phone: (215) 590-4470 Fax: (215) 590-6781 e-mail: <u>murphyl@email.chop.edu</u>

Linda Manor, R.Ph.

Duke / UNC CSCC University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (UNC) Investigational Drug Services 101 Manning Drive Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Phone: (919) 966-3469 Fax: (919) 966-6359 Email: <u>lmanor@unch.unc.edu</u>

Steve McCommon, Pharm.D.

STJ CSCC St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (STJ) Le Bonheur Pharmacy 50 N. Dunlap Memphis, TN 38104 phone: (901) 287-6091 fax: (901) 287-3158 Email : mccommos@lebonheur.org

Kelley Lee, Pharm.D., BCPS

STJ CSCC St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (STJ) Clinical Pharmacy Manager Le Bonheur Children's Medical Center Pharmacy 50 N. Dunlap Memphis, TN 38104 Phone: (901) 572-6736 Fax: (901) 287-3158 Email : LeeK@lebonheur.org

Victoria Bradley/Dennis Steindorf

UCD CSCC UC Davis Medical Center (UCD) Investigational Drug Services 2315 Stockton Blvd Davis Tower, Room 0762 Sacramento, CA 95817 Phone: (916) 703-4093 Fax: (916) 703-7048 Email: victoria.bradley@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu Email: dennis.steindorf@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu

Jennifer Grant, PharmD

MAC CSCC Kosair Children's Hospital (KCH) University of Louisville (KCH) Attention: Pharmacy 6th Floor 231 East Chestnut Street Louisville KY 40202 Phone: (502) 629-4934 or (502) 629-7273 Fax: (502) 629-7296 Email: JenniferO'Heam.Grant@nortonhealthcare.org

Lucy Fennewald, Pharmacist

MAC CSCC Kosair Children's Hospital (KCH) University of Louisville (KCH) 601 South Floyd Street, Suite 403 Louisville, KY 40202 Phone: (502) 629-4934 Fax: Email: donna.fennewald@nortonhealthcare.org

F. Dexamethasone Contacts for Study-Related Issues

Protocol Questions

Karen Kesler, Ph.D. Co-Principal Investigator Statistics and Data Management Center Rho Federal Systems Division, Inc. 6330 Quadrangle Drive, Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone: (919) 408-8000 x244 Fax: (919) 408-0999 karen_kesler@rhoworld.com

General Study Issues/Site Operations

Melanie Chelednik Study Coordinator Statistics and Data Management Center Rho Federal Systems Division, Inc. 6330 Quadrangle Drive, Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone (919): 408-8000 x472 **Fax** (919) 287-0126 Melanie_chelednik@rhoworld.com

Allison Overington Research Associate Statistics and Data Management Center Rho Federal Systems Division, Inc. 6330 Quadrangle Drive, Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone (919) 408-8000: x336 Fax: (919) 287-0126 allison_overington@rhoworld.com

G. Contacts for Central Laboratories

Marie Stuart, M.D.

MAC CSCC Thomas Jefferson University (TJU) 1025 Walnut Street College Building., Suite 727 Philadelphia, PA 19107 Phone: (215) 955-9820 Fax: (215) 955-8011 marie.stuart@jefferson.edu

Suba Krishnan

MAC CSCC Thomas Jefferson University (TJU) 1025 Walnut Street College Building., Suite 727 Philadelphia, PA 19107 Phone: (215) 955-9820 Fax: (215) 955-8011 suba.krishnan@gmail.com

Frans A. Kuypers, Ph.D.

NCC CSCC Children's Hospital Oakland Research Center (OAK) 5700 Martin Luther King Jr. Way Oakland, CA 94609 Phone: (510) 450-7620 Fax: (510) 450-7910 fkuypers@chori.org

Sandra Larkin, MS

NCC CSCC Children's Hospital Oakland Research Center (OAK) 5700 Martin Luther King Jr. Way Oakland, CA 94609 Phone: (510) 450-7621 Fax: (510) 450-7910 slarkin@chori.org

III. IRB PROCESS

A. SDMC 10-Step Informed Consent Approval Procedures

The informed consent form describes in non-technical language the purpose of the study, the activities and procedures involved, the expected duration, the potential risks, benefits, and discomforts of participation, and alternatives to study participation. Each subject must be informed that participation in the study is voluntary, that he/she may withdraw from the study at any time, and that withdrawal of consent will not affect his/her subsequent medical treatment or relationship with the treating physician.

The table below shows the informed consent statement approval process. The SDMC will track forms through this process; sites will not be allowed to enroll study subjects until they have completed this process.

Step	Action	Status
1	The Dexamethasone Protocol Team develops an informed consent and assent templates	Completed
2	The templates are reviewed and approved by the SDMC and Dr. Greg Evans at the NHLBI	Completed
3	A subcommittee of the Study PI, SDMC staff, and Dr. Evans develops a checklist that is used to review each site's consent forms to assure that the forms meet all regulatory requirements	Completed
4	Each site prepares a template-based consent form(s) for submission to its own IRB	
5	 Using the checklist, SDMC and NHLBI staff review the consent forms: Forms will be returned to the site investigator for revision if they: do not satisfy the requirements on the checklist misstate a point (e.g., underplay a potential adverse event) After forms are revised by the site, they are re-reviewed by SMDC staff 	
6	Following approval from the SDMC, each site submits its consent forms to its own IRB	
7	 IRB-approved consent forms are sent to the SDMC and reviewed as in Step 5, to assure that none of the key elements in the consents have been removed during the IRB review process: Forms will be returned to the investigator for revision for the same reasons listed in Step 5 When forms are resubmitted to the IRB, changes must be discussed with the IRB If forms are acceptable, go to Step 8 	
8	Notification that the consent forms contain the required elements, and that the site has obtained IRB approval of the forms is sent from the SDMC to the sites, and is forwarded to the DSMB and NHLBI	
9	The NHLBI approves the consent form(s)	
10	Each site keeps a copy of the original, approved consent forms and sends copies of all approved forms to the SDMC	

Site Consent Form Approval Process

This will be done annually if the study goes over one year.

A template for the consent and assent forms is included in section C. These forms must be modified according to the requirements of each institution. Before submitting the informed consent to the site's Institutional Review Board (IRB), the consent must be approved by the SDMC. A copy of the approved version (with an official IRB stamp) must be provided to the SDMC after IRB approval.

Informed consent must be obtained from each patient at the first recruitment/enrollment visit (Visit 1) prior to beginning <u>any</u> activities with the patient. For patients under the age of 18, this consent must be obtained from the patient's legal guardian. By signing and dating the consent form, the patient (or parent/guardian) is stating that he/she understands the information and is voluntarily giving informed permission for himself/herself (or for his/her child) to participate in the study. He/She should receive a copy of the signed consent.

If the patient is under the age of 18, he/she must sign a simple version of the consent form, called the assent form, if this is your local IRB policy. If the child is unable to read, this form should be read to him/her in the presence of the legal guardian.

If the patient/guardian refuses to sign the consent or assent form, then the patient is not eligible to be in the study. If the patient is under the age of 18 and refuses to sign the assent form, the patient is also not eligible to be in the study.

Please see the attached checklist for specific requirements for the Dexamethasone informed consent.

B. Informed Consent Content Checklist

Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers Checklist for the Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome Informed Consent Materials:

According to the guidelines specified in Title 21 CFR Part 50, the consent form will contain the following required elements:

A. Basic elements of informed consent:

- 1. ____ A statement that the study involves medical research.
- 2. ____ An explanation that the purpose of the study is to test the effectiveness and safety of Dexamethasone to treat ACS.
- 3. ____ A statement that the expected duration of the volunteer's treatment with Dexamethasone is a tapered dosing regimen over approximately 8 days.
- 4. ____ A statement that the expected duration of the volunteer's participation in this trial is approximately one month after hospital discharge but no more than 60 days.
- 5. _____A description of the procedures to be followed, which include screening, laboratory evaluations, physical exam, medical history and review of medical chart, chest radiograph, pulse oximetry, pain intensity ratings, randomization to Dexamethasone or placebo, administration of study drug, pulmonary function testing and two follow-up visits.
- 6. ____ A description of any reasonably foreseeable risks and discomforts to the subject or volunteers (includes ineffective treatment, if any). Serious risks identified in the protocol should be mentioned in the consent document.
- 7. ____ A description of benefits to the subjects or to others that may reasonably be expected from the study.
- 8. ____ A disclosure of appropriate alternative procedures or courses of treatment, if any, that might be advantageous to the subject, together with a balanced description of their relative risks and benefits, and a statement that the alternative to participating is not to participate.
- 9. _____ An explicit statement describing the extent to which confidentiality of records identifying the subject will be maintained. The statement should note that i) the FDA, NHLBI, and Rho, Inc. may inspect all medical records (including identification of the patient) when needed for the purpose of verifying the accuracy of data collection; ii) all of these parties are bound by the same requirements to maintain patient privacy that apply to all medical personnel; and iii) the subject will not be identified in any publication resulting from the study.
- 10. ____ A statement that the results of the study will be submitted with no identifying information.
- 11. _____ A statement as to whether compensation or medical treatments are available if injury occurs, and, if so, what they consist of or who to contact for further information. A statement indicating that the subject has not relinquished legal rights will be included here.
- 12. ____ The names of persons to contact for information or questions about: i) the subject 's rights as a study participant; and ii) the study protocol. Included will be specific instruction about whom to contact in the event of a research-related injury to the subject.

- 13. ____ Explicit statements that participation is voluntary and that refusal to participate will not involve a penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled.
- 14. ____ A statement that the subject is free to withdraw his/her consent and discontinue participation in the trial at any time without penalty or prejudice. Include the consequences of the subject's decision to withdraw from the research and procedures for orderly termination of participation by the subject. State that it is the patient or subject's responsibility to discuss his/her future medical care with the study doctor and their regular doctor if he/she chooses to withdraw before completion of the trial.
- 15. ____ An explicit statement that the investigator or the NHLBI may stop the subject's participation in the trial at any time.
- 16. ____ Dated signatures of the volunteer and/or guardian, Investigator or authorized representative administering the consent, and a witness, if applicable.

B. Additional elements of informed consent, as indicated:

According to the guidelines specified in Title 21 CFR Part 50, the consent form will contain the following additional elements, if appropriate:

- 17. ____ The approximate number of subjects enrolled in the trial will be approximately 112 subjects (56 children and 56 adults) at approximately 10 centers with ______ enrolled at their Center.
- 18. ____ A statement that participants will not be paid for participation in this trial. The trial will offer \$25 compensation for time and travel to the 1st follow-up visit and \$50 to the 2nd follow-up visit.
- 19. ____ A statement that the subject will be notified of significant new findings developed during the course of the research that may relate to the patient's or subject's willingness to continue participation in the trial.

Although some IRBs may not require assent of children as a necessary condition for proceeding with the Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome, we will provide an assent form for those Centers that do require one.

20. ____ Assent form provided.

IV. DEXAMETHASONE FOR ACS PROTOCOL OVERVIEW

A. Background and Rationale

Sickle Cell Disease (SCD) is characterized by chronic anemia and episodic "vaso-occlusive" crises. Acute pulmonary disease, descriptively termed "acute chest syndrome" (ACS),² is one of these events.

ACS is defined clinically as a new pulmonary radiographic infiltrate and concurrent signs and symptoms of acute pulmonary disease.^{3, 4} Fever and cough are common clinical findings in young children with ACS, but chest pain, shortness of breath, chills, a productive cough, and hemoptysis are more common in older individuals. About two-thirds of patients with ACS are hypoxemic, and most have an acute 1 to 2 g/dL decrease in hemoglobin concentration. The signs and symptoms of ACS may precede the appearance of an infiltrate on a chest radiograph. Lower and middle lobes are affected more often than upper lobes in adults, although upper lobe disease is more common in children. Bilateral infiltrates or involvement of multiple lobes predicts severe disease.

ACS is a common cause of hospitalization for patients with SCD, second only to painful crisis.^{5,6} This complication is not always apparent at the time of admission to the hospital, however. Patients may have fever or acute pain, especially in the chest or back, but no respiratory symptoms or pulmonary infiltrates, and develop ACS two or three days later. The Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease (CSSCD) showed that ACS occurs more frequently in young children and among individuals with homozygous sickle cell anemia (Hgb SS).⁵ The highest incidence of ACS, 25.8 episodes per 100 patient-years, occurs in children, ages 2 to 4 years with Hgb SS, whereas the incidence is 8.8 episodes per 100 patient-years in adults with Hgb SS. The mean length of hospitalization for all patients with ACS is about 7 days, but children stay in the hospital about 3 fewer days than adults.⁷ ACS is the most common cause of death due to SCD. 25% of SCD deaths are related to ACS,⁷ and the death rate of ACS is 1.8% in children and 4.3% in adults.⁶ Despite the gravity of this complication, the treatment of ACS is only supportive and often inadequate. Better treatments are clearly needed for this common and serious complication.

There are several presumed causes or antecedents of ACS, including infection, pulmonary fat

embolism, hypoventilation and atelectasis, pulmonary edema, pulmonary infarction, and bronchospasm.⁷ Any of these may act concurrently, and the distinction of ultimate cause is difficult. Vichinsky and colleagues analyzed 671 episodes of ACS in 538 patients who underwent extensive evaluation for infection and fat embolism by bronchoscopy, serologic assays, microbiologic cultures, molecular techniques, and histologic analysis.³ A specific etiology was identified in only 38% of episodes, although a cause was imputed in 70% of episodes for which "complete" data were available. Infections with bacterial, atypical bacterial, and viral agents were the most commonly identified cause, followed by fat embolism, either alone or in combination with infection. Over half of the episodes had no identifiable cause or were attributed to infarction by exclusion.

The final common pathway in the pathogenesis of ACS is probably pulmonary vascular occlusion and pulmonary endothelial injury. Rigid, irreversibly sickled erythrocytes may occlude the pulmonary vasculature during ACS,^{8,9} but the genesis of this occlusion is likely far more complex.¹⁰ For example, studies have shown that sickle erythrocytes bind to pulmonary endothelium via vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), whose expression is increased by hypoxia and cytokines, and this binding is not counter-balanced by cytoprotective mediators like NO.¹¹ Such excessive and uncontrolled adhesive interactions between erythrocytes and the pulmonary endothelium likely initiate and propagate ACS.

Pulmonary fat embolism (PFE) is one recently recognized cause of ACS.¹² Fatty bone marrow may be released into the blood as a result of bone marrow necrosis caused by a vaso-occlusive bony crisis. Embolic fat activates secretory phospholipase A₂ (sPLA₂), an enzyme that cleaves phospholipids and liberates free fatty acids. These fatty acids injure the pulmonary endothelium.¹³ Fatty acids also increase the expression of VCAM-1 and promote the adhesion of erythrocytes to endothelium in vitro—evidence for pathologic adhesive interactions in PFE.¹¹ Inflammatory leukotrienes and prostaglandins are also generated when sPLA₂ releases arachidonic acid.^{14,15} Indeed, the serum concentration of sPLA₂ is a laboratory marker of ACS.^{16,17} Patients with ACS have an increased serum concentration of sPLA₂, and the concentration correlates with the severity of ACS. There is also a temporal correlation between sPLA₂ concentration and the time-course of ACS: sPLA₂ increases before ACS is clinically apparent, peaks at the onset, and declines during resolution.^{16,17} The pulmonary histopathology of SCD is characterized by intimal hyperplasia and pulmonary fibrosis.^{18,19} Recurrent episodes of ACS may cause this injury.¹⁹ Some patients consequently develop a debilitating pulmonary disease characterized by chest pain, dyspnea, chronic pulmonary infiltrates, and hypoxemia.^{18, 19, 20, 21} This condition can progress to pulmonary hypertension, cor pulmonale, and even death.²¹ Several investigators have used pulmonary function testing to characterize and define the frequency of pulmonary disease in SCD.^{20, 22 23} These studies show that obstructive lung disease occurs frequently in this population, that it may precede restrictive lung disease,²² and that it may be associated with prior episodes of ACS.²³ Therefore, treatments that decrease the severity of ACS might also prevent or decrease late sequelae.

ACS is the clinical manifestation of some complex combination of toxic pulmonary endothelial injury, abnormal cellular adhesive interactions, vascular occlusion, the elaboration of inflammatory cytokines, infection, and regional alveolar hypoxia. However, our limited understanding of ACS has hindered the development of specific or targeted therapies. The treatment of patients with ACS is primarily supportive, involving watchful waiting and attentive management of pain, hydration, oxygenation, and ventilation. Antibiotics are used empirically, although infectious agents are not identified in most patients.^{2, 3, 24, 25, 26} Simple or exchange transfusion of packed RBCs may be beneficial for many reasons, but this therapy has not been tested in rigorous clinical trials.^{27, 28, 29} Likewise, there are only anecdotal reports of the benefit of inhaled NO.³⁰ More effective therapy is needed.

Glucocorticoids have a potential therapeutic role because they inhibit several ostensible steps in the pathogenesis of ACS. Steroids attenuate the inflammatory process, inhibit the enzyme sPLA₂, and prevent cytokine-induced expression of adhesion molecules by endothelial cells.^{11, 31, 32, 33} Thus, steroids could impede the process of vascular occlusion, endothelial injury, and inflammation. Further justification for the study of steroids for ACS can be inferred from related conditions. For example, pulmonary fat embolism due to trauma can be prevented, and possibly treated, with steroids.^{13, 34, 35} Likewise, if there is a component of reactive airway disease to ACS, like asthma, steroids might also be beneficial. ³⁶ Glucocorticoid therapy of ACS, therefore, deserves further investigation.

Dexamethasone is the first treatment shown to benefit patients with ACS in randomized, placebo-controlled trials. ^{47, 48} But the generalizability of these trials is limited, given that sample sizes were small, only children were studied, and individuals with severe ACS were few. The rebound effect is also worrisome. In addition, the statistical analysis and interpretation of the results was clouded because the observations were not all independent—some children with multiple episodes of ACS were included more than once in the trial.

Thus, further study of this promising treatment in a broad population is needed to clearly define its benefits and potential toxicities. This study aims to determine whether a <u>tapered regimen</u> of dexamethasone can both be effective <u>and</u> eliminate rebound VOC. The taper will follow 4 doses of the study drug as specified in the Bernini study,⁴⁷ because simply extending the duration of (un-tapered) dexamethasone to 6 doses, as in the Huh study,⁴⁸ did not prevent rebound attacks. Both adults and children who have ACS of any severity will be studied, dose modifications for marked leukocytosis will be incorporated, and individuals will participate only once. This study will also measure differences in pulmonary function at a 1-month follow-up visit, and a panel of biomarkers will be obtained at several time points during the course of study drug treatment.

Previous studies have shown that ACS is associated with endothelial activation characterized by a pathologic over-expression of proadhesive molecules, such as VCAM-1, that is not counterbalanced by cytoprotective and anti-adhesive mediators such as nitric oxide (NO).¹¹ Hypoxia plays a major role in endothelial cell activation and circulating blood cell-endothelial adhesion,^{55,56} tissue factor expression enhancing thrombin formation (with concomitant further endothelial activation, increased permeability and heterotypic cell-endothelial interactions^{57,58,59}), and the exocytosis of endothelial Weibel-Palade Bodies.⁶⁰ Weibel-Palade release of endothelial P-selectin is a crucial modulator of the early phases of polymorphonuclear adhesion to the vascular wall and leukostasis-induced pulmonary injury.⁶¹ P-selectin also facilitates the production of monocyte-derived procoagulant and proadhesive tissue factor-positive microparticles, ^{62, 63} the binding of sickle red cells to the vascular endothelium ⁶⁴ and the genesis of a pro-inflammatory phenotype.^{65, 66} The endothelial Weibel-Palade bodies under hypoxic conditions also release high molecular weight multimers of von Willebrand factor (vWF), further recruiting platelets to areas of hypoxia-induced vascular damage. Thus, these putative metabolites or soluble plasma biomarkers that we plan to measure during ACS are mainly endothelial derived (VCAM-1, ICAM-1, P-selectin, vWF multimers and NO metabolites) or are *IV Dexamethasone Overview* Page 4 of 16 Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0

functional cell microparticles formed as a result of endothelial activation (endothelial and monocyte microparticles), with whole blood tissue factor an index of both endothelial and monocyte activation. Since ACS is a syndrome of acute pulmonary endothelial injury related to the final common pathway of hypoxia on a background of chronic endothelial activation, the evaluation of these biomarkers that have potent effects on pulmonary pathophysiology is appropriate, with precedence for their use in both SCD and other states of endothelial activation and lung injury.^{67, 70}

During the early rolling phase of the inflammatory cascade, shedding of L-selectin occurs from the activated polymorphonuclear surface, with elevated levels of plasma sL-selectin noted in some reports of patients with SCD.^{75, 76} Since dexamethasone modulates white cell activation, it is also possible that an additional effect of glucocorticoids may be mediated via modulation of polymorphonuclear leucocyte and monocyte activation, with concomitant effects on sL-selectin and whole blood tissue factor expression respectively.

Glucocorticoids not only attenuate the inflammatory response,⁷¹ but also inhibit the cytokineinduced surface expression of proadhesive endothelial molecules and activate NO synthase.^{31,72,73} These may be the mechanisms of the beneficial therapeutic effects of glucocorticoids for ACS, and these effects will be identified in our study. However, the rebound phenomenon is troublesome. The occurrence of rebound VOC suggests a perturbation in homeostatic mechanisms related to adhesion and coagulation. Evidence for such a possibility has been recently provided by Belcher et al. who have demonstrated that in sickle cell transgenic mice expressing human α , β^{S} and $\beta^{S-Antilles}$ globins, dexame has one pretreatment for 3 days inhibited inflammation, leukocyte rolling and vaso-occlusion in a reperfusion injury model (hypoxia-reoxygenation) concomitant with a decrease in endothelial cell nuclear factor kappa B (NF_KB), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and VCAM-1 levels in lungs and skin.⁷⁴ VCAM-1 or ICAM-1 blockade with monoclonal antibodies mimicked dexamethasone by inhibiting vaso-occlusion and leukocyte adhesion in the sickle mice, demonstrating that endothelial activation with VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression are necessary for hypoxia-induced vaso-occlusion. However, following steroid discontinuation, reperfusion injury in the steroidtreated mice resulted in a dramatic increase in NFkB activation with increased levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 concomitant with vascular stasis and venular occlusion. These data strongly argue

that proadhesive and also perhaps procoagulant molecules (such as tissue factor, which is partially under NF_KB regulation), may increase markedly after steroid withdrawal and possibly mediate rebound vaso-occlusion. As such, a tapered regimen is included in this trial of dexamethasone for ACS.

B. Project Flow Diagram





C. Protocol Overview

The primary objective of the Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome study is to determine whether dexamethasone decreases the duration of signs and symptoms of ACS. The duration of ACS will be assessed by structured discharge criteria (Appendix 2) that incorporate the resolution of tachypnea, hypoxemia, increased work of breathing, and thoracic pain as well as the cessation of medical interventions to support respiration. We predict that dexamethasone will decrease the time to pulmonary recovery.

Secondary Objectives:

To determine whether dexamethasone reduces morbidity associated with ACS.

To determine whether a tapered regimen of dexamethasone prevents rebound VOC.

To determine whether dexamethasone modulates the endothelial phenotype to a less proadhesive and procoagulant state, and to determine whether the discontinuation of dexamethasone will be associated with a rebound in the expression of endothelial activation markers of adhesion and coagulation.

To determine whether dexamethasone prevents subacute adverse effects of ACS on pulmonary function.

To determine whether dexamethasone modulates white cell activation and whether the discontinuation of dexamethasone will be associated with a rebound in white cell activation.

Primary and Secondary Endpoints

The primary endpoint is the duration of signs and symptoms of ACS or the duration of hospitalization, whichever is less. The duration of signs and symptoms of ACS is defined as the interval between study entry and the time at which the elements of the structured discharge criteria are satisfied. The structured discharge criteria incorporate assessments of tachypnea, hypoxemia, work of breathing, thoracic pain, and medical interventions to support respiration (Appendix 2). The time of study entry is defined as the time of the first administration of the

study drug. The elements of the structured discharge criteria will be formally assessed and recorded every 6 hours until discharge from the hospital.

The secondary endpoints include the following:

- Amount and type of opioid used;
- Number and type (simple or exchange) of transfusions received;
- Duration of supplemental oxygen;
- Duration of hospitalization;
- Duration of fever;
- Duration of hypoxemia;
- Rebound hospitalizations;
- Results of pulmonary function testing (FVC, FEV1, FEF25-75%, PEFR, and flow-volume loop);
- Pulmonary radiographic findings (resolved, improved, unchanged, and worse); and,
- Rating of pain (Oucher or Visual Analog Scale).

Participation Identification and Recruitment

Patients with HB SS/S β^0 with the diagnosis of ACS will be recruited by study personnel or the physicians who care for them in the emergency department or the inpatient ward. Enrollment must occur within 24 hours of the diagnosis of ACS, which is timed from the diagnostic chest radiograph. It is anticipated that a 24-month period will be required for the completion of enrollment.

Participant Visit Schedule

Eligibility screening, informed consent, completion of a medical history and physical examination, chest radiograph, laboratory evaluations, oxygen saturation and pain intensity

measurements, randomization, and first study drug administration will occur on Baseline (Day 0). The high dose of dexamethasone (0.3mg.kg) is given for a total of 2 days or 4 doses or until hospital discharge, whichever comes first. A total of six taper doses will be administered every 24 hours over the next six days. Blood samples for biomarker evaluations will be drawn on Days 0, 1, 2, and 8. A follow-up appointment in the sickle cell clinic will be made for 1 week (if the subject remains in the hospital at one week this visit will not occur) and 1 month after discharge. Adverse Events and concomitant medications will be recorded throughout the patient's participation. (see protocol Table 10.2).

Data Management

RhoFED's internet-based remote data entry system will be used to capture the data for this study. Using this system, clinical site personnel use an internet browser (Internet Explorer or similar) to key data into an electronic CRF. The system will be accessible via the CSCC website and require center-specific user ID/password privileges. Data are not stored on the site's computer. At the end of each "page," data are submitted to RhoFED's secure web server and stored in the study's "operational database." Authorized site personnel may log in to the system, review and correct previously entered data, key additional data, or lock records to prevent further inadvertent modifications at any time.

Clinical Staff Training and Data Monitoring

Prior to the onset of enrollment, clinical study coordinators and data coordinators will be centrally trained to ensure adherence to the protocol and assure the highest possible data quality. Training will be led by a combination of investigators and other staff from the clinical centers, the SDMC, and NHLBI. Training presentations will address informed consent procedures, study operations and protocol requirements, data collection procedures, maintenance of source documentation, Case Report Form (CRF) completion and review, routine reporting requirements, data entry and management, and CSCC and NHLBI policies and procedures. As needed and as time allows, face-to-face training will be provided by SDMC staff as part of periodic site visits.

Human Subjects

There are known possible risks associated with the use of dexamethasone. Potential adverse events especially when given chronically, include hypertension, hyperphagia, weight gain, hyperglycemia, striae, acne, osteopenia, personality changes, gastrointestinal ulceration and hemorrhage, and growth retardation. Dexamethasone, like other steroids, may cause avascular necrosis of bone. However, patients will be monitored daily by study personnel and may discontinue at any time for any reason during the trial, with no consequences to the quality of their treatment. Early discontinuation from this trial does not interfere with the patient receiving their routine medical care. The possible benefits of participation to patients in this trial may be earlier recovery from ACS, decreased hospital stay and elimination of rebound vaso-occlusive complications. Furthermore, the serial biomarker assays may provide a better understanding of the biologic basis of steroid administration's beneficial effects and deleterious rebound complications in order to tailor therapy for each individual patient.

D. Subject Flow Diagram



*Exact timing may vary-see protocol.

E. References

- 1. Steinberg MH. Management of SCD. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:1021-30.
- 2. Charache S, Scott JC, Charache P. 'Acute chest syndrome' in adults with sickle cell anemia: microbiology, treatment, and prevention. Arch Intern Med 1979; 139:67-69.
- 3. Vichinsky EP, Neumayr LD, Earles AN, Williams R, Lennette ET, Dean D, Nickerson B, Orringer E, McKie V, Bellevue R, Daeschner C, Manci EA. Causes and outcomes of the acute chest syndrome in SCD. National Acute Chest Syndrome Study Group. N Engl J Med 2000; 342:1855-65.
- 4. Quinn CT, Buchanan GR. The acute chest syndrome of SCD. J Pediatr 1999; 135:416-22.
- 5. Castro O, Brambilla DJ, Thorington B, Reindorf CA, Scott RB, Gillette P, Vera JC, Levy PS. The acute chest syndrome in SCD: incidence and risk factors. Blood 1994; 84:643-649.
- 6. Vichinsky EP, Styles LA, Colangelo LH, Wright EC, Castro O, Nickerson B. Acute chest syndrome in SCD: clinical presentation and course. Blood 1997; 89:1787-1792.
- 7. Platt OS, Brambilla DJ, Rosse WF, Milner PF, Castro O, Steinberg MH, Klug PP. Mortality in SCD: life expectancy and risk factors for early death. N Engl J Med 1994; 330:1639-1644.
- Bhalla M, Abboud MR, McCloud TC, Shepard J-AO, Munden MM, Jackson SM, Beaty JR, Laver JH. Acute chest syndrome in SCD: CT evidence of microvascular occlusion. Radiology 1993; 187:45-49.
- 9. Aldrich TK, Dhuper SK, Patwa NS, Makolo E, Suzuka SM, Najeebi SA, Santhankrishnan S, Nagel RL, Fabry ME. Pulmonary entrapment of sickle cells: the role of regional alveolar hypoxia. J Appl Physiol 1996; 80:531-539.
- 10. Gladwin MT, Rodgers GP. Pathogenesis and treatment of acute chest syndrome of sickle-cell anaemia. Lancet 2000; 355:1476-8.
- 11. Stuart MJ, Setty BN. Sickle cell acute chest syndrome: pathogenesis and rationale for treatment. Blood 1999; 94:1555-60.
- 12. Vichinsky E, Williams R, Das M, Earles AN, Lewis N, Adler A, McQuitty J. Pulmonary fat embolism: a distinct cause of severe acute chest syndrome in sickle cell anemia. Blood 1994; 83:3107-3112.
- 13. Levy D. The fat embolism syndrome: a review. Clin Orthop 1990; 261:281-286.
- 14. Henderson WR, Jr., Lewis DB, Albert RK, Zhang Y, Lamm WJ, Chiang GK, Jones F, Eriksen P, Tien YT, Jonas M, Chi EY. The importance of leukotrienes in airway inflammation in a mouse model of asthma. J Exp Med 1996; 184:1483-94.
- Lewis RA, Austen KF, Soberman RJ. Leukotrienes and other products of the 5-lipoxygenase pathway. Biochemistry and relation to pathobiology in human diseases. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:645-55.
- 16. Styles LA, Schalkwijk CG, Aarsman AJ, Vichinsky EP, Lubin BH, Kuypers FA. Phospholipase A₂ levels in acute chest syndrome of SCD. Blood 1996; 87:2573-2578.
- 17. Styles LA, Aarsman AJ, Vichinsky EP, Kuypers FA. Secretory phospholipase A(2) predicts impending acute chest syndrome in SCD. Blood 2000; 96:3276-3278.
- Oppenheimer EH, Esterly JR. Pulmonary changes in SCD. Am Rev Respir Dis 1971; 103:858-859.
- 19. Powars D, Weidman JA, Odom-Maryon T, Niland JC, Johnson C. Sickle cell chronic lung disease: prior morbidity and the risk of pulmonary failure. Medicine 1988; 67:66-76.
- 20. Bowen EF, Crowston JG, De Cuelaer K, Serjeant GR. Peak expiratory flow rate and the acute chest syndrome in homozygous SCD. Arch Dis Child 1991; 66:330-332.

- 21. Yater WM, Hansmann GH. Sickle cell anemia: a new cause of cor pulmonale of right heart failure. Am J Med Sci 1936; 191:474.
- 22. Koumbourlis AC, Zar HJ, Hurlet-Jensen A, Goldberg MR. Prevalence and reversibility of lower airway obstruction in children with SCD. J Pediatr 2001; 138:188-192.
- 23. Santoli F, Zerah F, Vasile N, Bachir D, Galacteros F, Atlan G. Pulmonary function in SCD with or without acute chest syndrome. Eur Resp J 1998; 12:1124-1129.
- 24. Sprinkle RH, Cole T, Smith S, Buchanan GR. Acute chest syndrome in children with SCD. Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1986; 8:105-110.
- 25. Poncz M, Kane E, Gill FM. Acute chest syndrome in SCD: etiology and clinical correlates. J Pediatr 1985; 107:861-866.
- 26. Davies SC, Luce PJ, Win AA, Riordan JF. Acute chest syndrome in sickle-cell disease. Lancet 1984; 1(8367):36-38.
- 27. Wayne AS, Kevy SV, Nathan DG. Transfusion management of SCD. Blood 1993; 81:1109-1123.
- 28. Mallouh AA, Asha M. Beneficial effect of blood transfusion in children with sickle cell chest syndrome. Am J Dis Child 1988; 142:178-182.
- 29. Lanzkowsky P, Shende A, Karayalcin G, Kim Y-J, Aballi AJ. Partial exchange transfusion in sickle cell anemia: use in children with serious complications. Am J Dis Child 1978; 132:1206-1208.
- 30. Atz AM, Wessel DL. Inhaled nitric oxide in SCD with acute chest syndrome. Anesthesiology 1997; 87:988-990.
- Schwiebert LM, Beck LA, Stellato C, Bickel CA, Bochner BS, Schleimer RP, Schwiebert LM. Glucocorticosteroid inhibition of cytokine production: relevance to antiallergic actions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97:143-152.
- 32. Vadas P, Stefanski E, Pruzanski W. Potential therapeutic efficacy of inhibitors of human phospholipase A₂ in septic shock. Agents Actions 1986; 19:194-202.
- 33. van den Bosch H, Schalkwijk C, Pfeilschifter J, Marki F. The induction of cellular group II phospholipase A₂ by cytokines and its prevention by dexamethasone. Adv Exp Med Biol 1992; 318:1-10.
- Schonfeld SA, Ploysongsang Y, DiLisio R, Crissman JD, Miller E, Hammerschmidt DE, Jacob HS. Fat embolism prophylaxis with corticosteroids. A prospective study in high-risk patients. Ann Intern Med 1983; 99:438-43.
- 35. Bulger EM, Smith DG, Maier RV, Jurkovich GJ. Fat embolism syndrome: a 10-year review. Arch Surg 1997; 132:435-439.
- 36. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. National Asthma Education Program. Expert Panel on the Management of Asthma. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma. Bethesda, Md.: National Asthma Education Program Office of Prevention Education and Control National Heart Lung and Blood Institute National Institutes of Health, 1991:xiii, 136.
- 37. Bennett AJ, Rosner F. Glucocorticoid therapy of sickle-cell disease. Lancet 1979; 2:474.
- 38. Adadevoh BK, Isaacs WA. The effect of megestrol acetate on sickling. Am J Med Sci 1973; 265:367-70.
- 39. Alexanian R, Nadell J. Oxymetholone treatment for sickle cell anemia. Blood 1975; 45:769-77.
- 40. Isaacs WA, Effiong CE, Ayeni O. Steroid treatment in the prevention of painful episodes in sickle-cell disease. Lancet 1972; 1(7750):570-571.
- 41. Isaacs WA, Hayhoe FG. Steroid hormones in sickle-cell disease. Nature 1967; 215:1139-42.

- 42. Scott RB, Banks LO, Jenkins ME, Crawford RP. Studies in sickle-cell anemia: II. Clinical manifestations of sickle-cell anemia in children (an analysis of thirty-seven cases with observation on the use of ACTH and cortisone in two additional cases). J Pediatr 1951; 39:460-471.
- 43. Robinson B. Reversal of sickle-cell crisis by dexamethasone. Lancet 1979; 1:1088.
- 44. Franklin IM, Linch DC. Dexamethasone and in-vitro sickling. Lancet 1979; 2:645-6.
- 45. Griffin TC, McIntire D, Buchanan GR. High-dose intravenous methylprednisolone therapy for pain in children and adolescents with SCD. N Engl J Med 1994; 330:733-737.
- 46. de Araujo JT, Comerlatti LK, de Araujo RA, Bodemeier L. [Treatment of sickle cell anemia crisis with dipyrone, hydrocortisone, and fluid therapy]. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo 1994; 49:13-6.
- 47. Bernini JC, Rogers ZR, Sandler ES, Reisch JS, Quinn CT, Buchanan GR. Beneficial effect of intravenous dexamethasone in children with mild to moderately severe acute chest syndrome complicating SCD. Blood 1998; 92:3082-3089.
- 48. Huh WW, Quinn CT, Rogers ZR, Dale JC, Williams BF, Buchanan GR. Follow-up study of intravenous dexamethasone therapy for children with acute chest syndrome complicating sickle cell disease. Presented at the 27th Annual Meeting of the Sickle Cell Disease Program, Los Angeles, April 18-21, 2004.
- 49. 49. Mirzai R, Chang C, Greenspan A, Gershwin ME. The pathogenesis of osteonecrosis and the relationships to corticosteroids. J Asthma 1999; 36:77-95.
- 50. Mukisi-Mukaza M, Elbaz A, Samuel-Leborgne Y, Keclard L, Le Turdu-Chicot C, Christophe-Duchange E, Merault G. Prevalence, clinical features, and risk factors of osteonecrosis of the femoral head among adults with SCD. Orthopedics 2000; 23:357-63.
- 51. Drescher W, Schneider T, Becker C, Hobolth J, Ruther W, Hansen ES, Bunger C. Selective reduction of bone blood flow by short-term treatment with high-dose methylprednisolone. An experimental study in pigs. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2001; 83:274-7.
- 52. Wing PC, Nance P, Connell DG, Gagnon F. Risk of avascular necrosis following short term megadose methylprednisolone treatment. Spinal Cord 1998; 36:633-6.
- 53. Gladman DD, Bombardier C. Sickle cell crisis following intraarticular steroid therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1987; 30:1065-8.
- 54. Huang JC, Gay R, Khella SL. Sickling crisis, fat embolism, and coma after steroids. Lancet 1994; 344:951-2.
- 55. Setty BNY and Stuart MJ. VCAM₁ is involved in mediating hypoxia-induced sickle red blood cell adherence to endothelium. Blood 1996; 88:2311-2320.
- 56. Setty BNY, Stuart MJ, Dampier C, et al. Hypoxaemia in SCD: biomarker modulation and relevance to pathophysiology. Lancet 2003; 362:1450-1455.
- 57. Solovey A, Kollander R, Shet A, Choong S, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Blazar BR, Kelm RJ, and Hebbel RP. Endothelial cell expression of tissue factor in sickle mice is augmented by hypoxia/reoxygenation and inhibited by Lovastatin. Blood 2004; 104:840-846.
- 58. Garcia JGN, Pavalko FM, Patterson CE. Vascular endothelial cell activation and permeability responses to thrombin. Blood Coagul Fibrinoloysis 1995; 6:609-26.
- 59. Manadori AB, Matsui NM, Chen JY, Embury SH. Enhanced adherence of sickle erythrocytes to thrombin-treated endothelial cells involves inter-endothelial cell gap formation. Blood 1998; 92:3445-3454.
- 60. Pinsky DJ, Naka Y, Liao H, Oz MC, Wagner DD, Mayadas TN, Johnson RC, Hynes RO, Heath M, Lawson CA, Stern DM. Hypoxia-induced exocytosis of endothelial Weibel-Palade

Bodies: A mechanism for rapid neutrophil recruitment after cardiac preservation. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:493-500.

- 61. Mulligan MS, Polley MJ, Bayer RJ, Nunn MF, Paulson JC, Ward PJ. Neutrophil-dependent acute lung injury: Requirement for P-selectin. J Clin Invest 1992; 90:1600-1607.
- 62. Celi A, Pellegrini G, Loronzet R, deBlasi A, Ready N, Furie BC, Furie B. P-selectin induces the expression of tissue factor on monocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1994;91:8767-8771.
- 63. Falati S, Liu Q, Gross P, Merrill-Skoloff G, Chou J, Vandendries E, Celi A, Croce K, Furie BC, Furie B. Accumulation of tissue factor into developing thrombi in vivo is dependent upon microparticle P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 and platelet P-selectin. J Exp Med. 2003;197:1585-1598.
- 64. Matsui NM, Borsig L, Rosen SD, Yaghmai M, Varki A, Embury H. P-selectin mediates the adhesion of sickle erythrocytes to endothelium. Blood. 2001;98:1955-1962.
- 65. Wood KC, Hebbel RP, Granger DN. Endothelial cell P-selectin mediates a proinflammatory and prothrombogenic phenotype in cerebral venules of sickle cell transgenic mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2004;286:H1608-H1614.
- 66. Embury SH, Matsui NM, Ramanujam S, Mayadas TN, Noguchi CT, Diwan BA, Mohandas N, Cheung ATW. The contribution of endothelial cell P-selectin to the microvascular flow of mouse sickle erythrocytes in vivo. Blood. 2004;104:3378-3385.
- 67. Kato GJ, Martyr S, Yang B, Nichols J, Coles W, Hunter L, Gladwin MT. Soluble VCAM-1 levels in patients with sickle cell disease is a marker of endothelial dysfunction associated with severity of hemolysis and pulmonary hypertension. 27th Annual Meetings of the National Sickle Cell Disease Program. Abstract #6, 2004.
- 68. André P. P-selectin in haemostasis. Br J Haematol. 2004;126:298-306.
- 69. Ware LB, Eisner MD, Thompson BT, Parsons PE, Matthay MA. Significance of von Willebrand Factor in septic versus non-septic patients with lung injury. Am J Resp Crit Care Med 2004; 170:766-772.
- Setty BNY, Vaidyula VR, Dampier CD, Rao AK, Stuart MJ. Fetal hemoglobin protects against activation of hemostasis, endothelial and circulating blood cells in sickle cell anemia. Blood August 2005 (Submitted)
- 71. Buttgereit F, Burmester G, Lipworth BJ. Optimized glucocorticoid therapy: the sharpening of an old spear. Lancet 2005; 365:801-803.
- 72. Aziz KE, Wakefield D. Modulation of endothelial cell expression of ICAM-1, E-selectin and VCAM-1 by β-estradiol, progesterone and Dexamethasone. Cell Immunol 1996; 167:79-85.
- 73. Asoh K, Kumai T, Murano K, Kobayashi S, Koitabashi Y. Effect of antenatal Dexamethasone treatment on Ca++-dependent nitric oxide synthase activity in rat lung. Pediatr Res 2000; 48:91-95.
- 74. Belcher JD, Mahaseth H, Welch TE et al. Critical role of endothelial cell activation in hypoxia-induced vasocclusion in transgenic sickle mice. Am J Physiol. Heart Circ Physiol. In Press 2005.
- 75. Lard LR, Mul FPJ, deHaas M, Roos D, Duits AJ. Neutrophil activation in sickle cell disease. J Leukoc Biol. 1999;66:411-415.
- 76. Setty BNY and Stuart MJ. Eicosanoids in sickle cell disease: potential relevance of neutrophil leukotriene B₄ to disease pathophysiology. J Lab Clin Med. 2002;139:80-89.
- 77. Bellet PS, Kalinyak KA, Shukla R, Gelfand MJ, Rucknagel DL. Incentive spirometry to prevent acute pulmonary complications in SCDs. N Engl J Med 1995; 333:699-703.
78. Jennison C. and Turnbull B.W. (2000). *Group Sequential Methods with applications to clinical trials*. Chapman and Hall/CRC USA.

V. CENTER ENROLLMENT PLAN

A. Site Set-Up

Sites need to have completed the IRB and ICF approval process described in section 14.2 of the protocol. Sites will also need to have a recruitment plan, and must have study staff attend training at Rho, Inc. with regards to the EDC system, RhoLAB, and RhoRAND systems.

B. Site Initiation Visit

Site initiation visits will be required for each site. Site initiation visits will take place after the site has IRB approval and has submitted all of their regulatory documents to Rho. The Rho monitor assigned to the Dexamethasone protocol will conduct the initiation visit.

C. Subject Screening

Subject's eligibility to enroll in the study will be assessed by study personnel or the physicians who care for them in the emergency department or the inpatient ward. Subjects who meet all of the Inclusion Criteria and have none of the Exclusion Criteria will be enrolled in the study after providing informed consent.

D. Inclusion Criteria

Subjects who meet all of the following criteria are eligible for enrollment into the study:

- 1. Age \geq 5 years;
- 2. Diagnosis of sickle cell anemia (Hgb SS) or sickle- β^0 -thalassemia (Hgb S β^0);
- 3. Current episode of ACS defined as a new lobar or segmental pulmonary infiltrate seen on a chest radiograph and <u>two</u> or more of the following findings in the 24 hours preceding enrollment (signing consent):

temperature \geq 38.5°C, tachypnea, dyspnea or increased work of breathing, chest wall pain, and

oxygen saturation of < 90% in room air by pulse oximetry;

4. Subjects must have <u>one</u> or more of the following findings at the time of enrollment:

tachypnea,

dyspnea or increased work of breathing,

chest wall pain, and

oxygen saturation of < 90% in room air by pulse oximetry;

- 5. Current episode of ACS diagnosed within the preceding 24 hours;
- 6. Ability to take medication in capsule form;
- 7. Written, informed consent provided by the subject and/or parent(s) or guardian(s) before study entry.

E. Exclusion Criteria

Subjects who meet any of the following criteria are disqualified from enrollment in the study:

- 1. Prior participation in this study;
- 2. A condition that will likely be exacerbated by corticosteroid therapy, including:

diabetes mellitus,

hypertension,

esophageal or gastrointestinal ulceration or bleeding, or

known avascular necrosis;

- 3. Diagnosis of ACS in the 6 months preceding enrollment;
- 4. Treatment with oral or parenteral corticosteroid therapy for any reason within the preceding 14 days;
- 5. Use for respiratory illness in the preceding 3 months of:

oral corticosteroids, or parenteral corticosteroids;

6. A chronic pulmonary condition that requires treatment with corticosteroids;

- 7. Current participation in a program of chronic transfusions.
 - "Current participation" denotes that the subject's last transfusion was given in the 4 months preceding study entry
 - "Program of chronic transfusions" is defined as a regimen of serial simple or exchange transfusions given at least every 6 weeks for at least 3 consecutive transfusions for the prevention of SCD-related complications.
- 8. Pregnancy;
- 9. Treatment with any investigational drug in preceding 90 days.
- 10. A history of either tuberculosis or a positive skin test for tuberculosis;
- 11. Known infection with HIV or a current systemic fungal infection.

F. Privacy, Confidentiality, Security of Data

Electronic resources used by the CSCC SDMC at Rho, Inc. are protected through numerous physical security measures and user access controls. It is impossible, however, to completely eliminate the risk of damage to network files from various threats, including physical catastrophes, virus attacks, user errors, or other unusual circumstances. Rho's back-up and security procedures ensure that Rho can recover quickly from such an event with minimal data loss.

Web-based Network Communication System

Security for the CSCC secure website has been set up through a table of authorities, which controls the level of access. Access rights are automatically applied to the user as a function of the login process. All users affiliated with the CSCC sites or NHLBI are required to arrange a login name and password prior to accessing the site. Access restrictions will be automatic, and features for which the user does not have access will not appear on the menu.

Back-up and Recovery and Virus Protection

All CSCC files and data are stored on the SDMC network; these network files are backed-up routinely to tape on a semi-daily basis.

Virus Protection

The need to exchange files with CSCC Investigators and study site personnel can expose the CSCC SDMC network and workstations to the possibility of attack by computer viruses and related entities. Each computer on the Rho network has anti-virus software running at all times. The software is configured to automatically scan all floppy disks and executable files introduced to the system.

G. Reimbursement/Compensation

Subjects will be paid \$25 dollars at the time of the first follow-up visit to reimburse them for their time and parking fees. Subjects will be paid \$50 dollars at the time of the second follow-up visit to reimburse them for the additional time required to complete all of the study procedures, as well as their parking fees.

H. Assessing Literacy

Literacy of eligible, as well as, enrolled study subjects is an important issue that warrants consideration for all CSCC related research. Subjects' reading comprehension is dependent upon numerous factors including vocabulary, knowledge of sentence structure and understanding of the content of the material presented. Obtaining informed consent in accordance with ICH and policies for clinical research requires that the subject has the ability to fully understand benefits, risks and the rationale behind the study in which he or she is being asked to participate. Study coordinators should also provide assistance if participants are unable to read the Informed Consent Forms.

There are two approaches that may be employed by clinical researchers to assess literacy. One approach is to administer a standardized measure to subjects. There are a number of standardized literacy assessments used in clinical research including the WRAT-3, The Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine (REALM), The Test of Functional Health Literacy (TOFHLA), as well as a graph format called the Fry Readability Scale. Another approach is to

ask the subject to fill out a very brief general survey about topics such as neighborhood information, and have the study coordinator or interviewer subjectively decide whether or not the subject seems to have a literacy deficit.

I. Subject Study Withdrawal or Discontinuation

Subjects may choose to discontinue from the study at any time. The site Principal Investigator or the sponsor may choose to discontinue the subject from the study for the following conditions:

- 1. Subject's chest syndrome gets worse.
- 2. Investigator determines that participation in study is no longer safe for the subject.
- 3. Investigator determines other treatment may be more helpful.
- 4. The sponsor or FDA stops the research for the safety of the participants.
- 5. The sponsor cancels the research.
- 6. Investigator determines the subject is unable to adhere to study directions.

Upon study discontinuation for any reason, the Study Completion form in the EDC system must be completed. Subjects who discontinue prematurely from the study for any reason, including those subjects determined to be ineligible after signing informed consent, will be encouraged to complete the last follow-up visit.

J. Training

Slides from the July 19-20, 2006 training session at Rho, Inc. are found on the secure CSCC website on the Dexamethasone study page under Training and Help documents.

VI. STUDY ACTIVITIES

A. Patient Recruitment and Eligibility

All sickle cell anemia (Hgb SS) or sickle- β^0 –thalassemia (hgb S β^0)patients greater than five years of age seen in the emergency department or inpatient ward at a CSCC site with a diagnosis of Acute Chest Syndrome, should be screened by study personnel for eligibility. A current diagnosis of Acute Chest Syndrome (ACS) is defined as a new lobar or segmental pulmonary infiltrate seen on a chest radiograph **and** two or more of the following findings:

- Temperature $\geq 38.5^{\circ}$ C,
- Tachypnea,
- Dyspnea or increased work of breathing,
- Chest wall pain, and
- Oxygen saturation of <90% in room air by pulse oximetry.

Enrollment must occur within 24 hours of the diagnosis of ACS, which is timed from the diagnostic chest radiograph. Qualifying patients will be enrolled after providing informed consent. In total, 112 subjects (56 children and 56 adults) will be randomized either to dexamethasone or placebo.

B. Obtaining Informed Consent

Sites are obligated to obtain informed consent from each subject and to ensure that all of the information gathered remains confidential. "Informed Consent" means that study staff have explained the purpose of the study, what their participation entails, and whether it will cause any harm or provide any benefit to the participant. Only after this explanation can the potential study subject be expected to make an 'informed' decision about whether he/she wants to participate. Study staff must assure the participant that all of the information collected is completely confidential and will never be linked to the participant. "Confidentiality" means that every effort is made to protect the identity of the participant. Study staff must read the informed consent statement to the potential participant and make sure they understand what it means.

When obtaining informed consent, attention should be focused on the following elements of the informed consent statement:

- Purpose of the study
- Sponsorship of the study
- Study procedures
- Risks and discomforts associated with the study
- Benefits of the study
- Confidentiality of information
- Payment for participation in the study

C. Daily Activity Visit Checklist

Day 0 (Baseline/Study Enrollment Visit)

- □ Have informed consent signed
- Check inclusion and exclusion criteria
- □ Chest radiograph
- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Weight
- □ Vital signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- Draw blood for Biomarkers to process (will batch and ship to TJU every 2 weeks)
- Obtain blood sample for pregnancy test (if female of child-bearing potential)
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in the medical record)
- □ Randomization¹
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- □ Collect medical history
- Collect demographic information
- □ Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Occurrence of AEs and SAEs

Day 1

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- **D**raw blood for Biomarkers to process and store
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in the medical record)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- **c** Collect concomitant medication information
- □ Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 2

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D** Draw blood culture if temperature $\ge 38.5^{\circ}$ C
- Draw blood for Biomarkers to process and store
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient).
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in the medical record)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- Collect concomitant medication information
- □ Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- □ Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 3³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in the medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 4³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- **D** Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 5³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature $\ge 38.5^{\circ}$ C
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- Collect concomitant medication information
- □ Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- □ Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 6³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- **Collect number and type of transfusions**
- **Collect** AE and SAE information

Day 7³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4 hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- □ Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 8³

- □ ACS Assessments (every 4hrs by nurse or study personnel)
- Physical Exam
- □ Vital Signs (every 4 hrs while in-patient recorded in medical record)
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- **D**raw blood culture if temperature \geq 38.5° C
- Draw blood for Biomarkers to process and store (after the last dose of study drug)
- □ Pain Intensity rating (every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry and every 4 hours while in-patient)
- □ Fluid Balance (ins and outs recorded in medical records)
- **D** Study Drug Administration²
- **D** Collect concomitant medication information
- □ Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect number and type of transfusions
- □ Collect AE and SAE information

Day 1 – 8 if patient has been discharged from the hospital

- **□** Reminder phone call to encourage to take study drug until complete taper
- □ Schedule 1 Week Follow-up visit which occurs between days 7-10 after study enrollment and after the last dose of study drug (if patient has been discharged from the hospital)
- Dispense Study Drug Diary and give instructions for use and return of unused study drug

Follow-up Visit #1 After Hospital Discharge (Day 7 – 10)

- □ Interim History
- □ Vital Signs
- ACS Assessment
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- Draw blood for Biomarkers to process and store (if patient was discharged prior to Day 8)
- □ Pain Intensity rating
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry)
- Compliance with home administration of study drug
- Collection of study drug diary and any un-used study drug
- Collect concomitant medication information
- □ Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- □ Collect AE and SAE information
- □ Schedule Follow-up visit #2 which occurs 30 days +/- 3 days after hospital discharge

Follow-up Visit #2

- □ Interim History
- Physical Exam
- □ ACS Assessment
- □ Weight
- □ Vital Signs
- Draw blood for CBC and reticulocyte count labs to be done locally
- □ Chest radiograph
- Pulmonary Function Testing
- □ Pain Intensity rating
- □ Peripheral oxygen saturation (by pulse oximetry)
- □ Compliance
- □ Collect concomitant medication information
- Collect Daily amount and type of Opioid use
- Collect AE and SAE information

¹Refer to SIM section VI Study Activities - F. Randomization

²Refer to Drug dosing Chart

³Use Day 3- 8 check list when the patient is an in-patient

D. Table of Clinical Evaluations and Procedures

	Inpatient			Inpatient or Outpatient		
	Baseline	Daily	Inter- mittent	Contin- uous	Follow-up #1(7-10 d) ⁶	Follow-up #2 ⁶
Assessment of structured discharge criteria ¹	Х		Every 4h		Х	Х
History	Х				Interval ²	Interval ²
Physical exam	Х	Х				Х
Weight	Х					Х
Vital signs	Х		Every 4h ⁵		Х	Х
CBC, reticulocyte count	Х	Х			Х	Х
Blood culture	Х	X ³				
Chest radiograph	Х					Х
Pain scale ⁴	Х		Every 4h		Х	Х
Concomitant Medications	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Opioids used (quantified)		Х				
Pulse oximetry (record every 4 hrs)	Х			X (q4h)	spot	spot
Fluid balance (ins and outs)			Every 8h			
Pregnancy test (if applicable)	Х		2			
Study drug administration			Every 12- 24h			
Occurrence of AEs or SAEs				Х	Х	Х
Number of transfusions		Х				
Pulmonary function testing						Х
Compliance					Х	Х

¹Appendix3.

²Includes pain history, pain treatment, respiratory symptoms, inpatient or outpatient evaluations and

management of SCD-related complications (rebound VOC).

³Only if temperature \geq 38.5°C or at discretion of attending physician

⁴Oucher Scale (age <10 years) or numeric rating scale (age \ge 10 years)

⁵ Vital signs recorded every 4 h and I/Os every 8 h on subject's medical record. Study personnel will collect the maximum values of the subject's vital signs every 24h.

⁶Follow-up #1 is after completion of study drug between days 7-10. Follow-up #2 is thirty days (+/- 3 days) after discharge from hospital and no more than 60 days after study enrollment

Dose (mg/kg)	Max single Dose (mg)	Frequency	24hr dose (mg/kg)	Duration (days)	
0.3	12	Every 12H	0.6	2 (or hospital discharge)	"High Dose"
0.3	12	Every 24H	0.3	2	1
0.2	8	Every 24H	0.2	2	≻"Taper"
0.1	4	Every 24H	0.1	2	J

E. Dexamethasone Dosing Chart

A template for physician's orders can be found on the secure CSCC website on the Dexamethasone study page under Training and Help documents. A Dosing Taper Chart, Drug Dosing Regimen Tool and Subject Diary can be found on the Dexamethasone study page under Source Documents.

F. Randomization and Masking

After enrollment, subjects will be randomized to one of two treatment arms. Subjects in Arm 1 will receive oral dexamethasone. Subjects in Arm 2 will receive oral placebo. A computergenerated, adaptive randomization schema will be used to allocate subjects 1:1 between the two treatment arms. Randomization will be stratified by site, age and the severity of ACS (see Section 8.3). In order to increase the likelihood of balance in treatment allocations, subjects will be randomized using the standardized range variation (79) of the sequential allocation algorithm of Pocock and Simon (80), a minimization method. This method attempts to achieve treatment balance on several subject characteristics (i.e. age group, site, and severity of ACS in this study) simultaneously – not within separate strata. Minimization consists of biasing the treatment allocation so as to minimize the total imbalance between the treatment groups on some scale (81). The order of entry of the subjects to the various centers and in the various prognostic groups is assumed to be random. As minimization is a dynamic method that uses information on subjects already entered to allocate treatment to the next subject, a continuous updating of the information related to previous treatment allocations is required, thus a centralized randomization system will be used.

Pharmacists at each center will be unblinded and will utilize information from the interactive voice/web randomization system (IVRS) at the SDMC to obtain a new treatment assignment VI Study Activities Page 9 of 14 Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0

for a subject and provide each subject with appropriate dosing of both therapies. The IVRS system has the capability of providing unblinding information in case of a medical emergency where the exact study drug is needed in order to appropriately treat a subject.

The time interval between Randomization and the first dose of study drug administration will be no longer than 2 hours. In the event a subject's first dose occurs outside the 2-hour time limit, the subject will still be included in the study and the analysis. This is in the spirit of the intention-to-treat analysis. The amount of time in excess of the 2-hour limit until the first dose of study drug will also be recorded. This event will be documented as a protocol deviation.

The subject's physicians, nurses, and ancillary support staff will not be aware of the treatment assignment. The placebo formulations will be identical in appearance and taste to the active compounds (see protocol Section 9.1.3).

Oucher Pain Rating Poster Reprinted with permission from Judith Beyer



VI Study Activities Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0



10-point Numeric Rating Scale for subjects \geq 10 yrs and older

H. Subject Compensation

Subjects will be paid \$25 dollars at the time of the first follow-up visit to reimburse them for their time and for parking fees. Subjects will be paid \$50 dollars at the time of the second follow-up visit to reimburse them for the additional time this visit requires to complete all of the study procedures as well as their parking fees.

I. Principal Investigator Quality Control and Documentation

The principal investigator at each local site will review all entry chest radiographs and perform each physical exam and indicate he or she has done so by initialing the corresponding source document form.

Additionally, the principal investigator at each local site will also review all Medical History, discharge criteria, study drug orders, adverse and serious adverse event case report forms for each study subject.

Sites may elect to establish an additional process for review to ensure that data have been accurately collected.

VII. WEBSITE OVERVIEW

A. Website Content

The "Dexamethasone" study webpage is accessed via a link located on the right-hand side of the CSCC Website Homepage. You must be an authorized user for the study to see the Dexamethasone link on the website. Access to various documents will depend on your user level.

User Levels:

- Basic User Basic access allows the individual to view the staff directory, the calendar, the committees, and CSCC templates.
- Second Level User Study-specific access that allows the user to view all documents associated with a particular protocol.
- 3) EDC/RhoLAB User For users who will perform data entry into the applications developed by Rho (the SDMC) as sources of data capture and specimen tracking from site to central lab. EDC is used for all CSCC studies and users must obtain permission from their site PI. RhoLAB is used only for studies that involve central labs and also requires PI permission.

Categories:

- General Protocol Documents Contains the most recent protocol and PI Signature Page, the current budget, and the Dexamethasone Protocol Committee Roster.
- EDC Links Provides a direct link to the EDC system and the list of patients registered at each Center. This list can be viewed in a table that is sorted by hospital or by CSCC Subject Identification Numbers.
- Case Report Forms Provides access to the paper version of the most recent Case Report Forms (CRFs), as well as annotated CRFs that include Completion Guidelines.
- 4) Training and Help Documents Contains Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) related to this study and the most recent version of the Study Information Manual. When revisions are VII Website Overview Page 1 of 7 Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0

made to either of these documents, an e-mail will be sent to the Dexamethasone listserv directing members to the website and to the specific documents or sections that were updated.

- 5) **Informed Consent Documents** Contains the Informed Consent Process Summary, the Consent Form Checklist, and the most recent Informed Consent Templates.
- 6) **Teleconference Minutes** Contains detailed minutes from each Dexamethasone study teleconference call.
- 7) Study Progress Contains enrollment reports and an IRB status report.
- 8) Educational Documents and Materials Contains a PDF version of the staff brochure. Contains a slide presentation that may be used by in-service nursing staff. Contains a template for in-patient door sign, in-patient study stickers, and in-patient physician orders. Contains a letter template that may be used to thank nursing staff assisting in the collection of the study assessments.
- 9) Source Documents and Bedside Nursing Staff Binder Contains Source Document templates that may be used to collect study data. These documents are provided to serve as tools that will ensure that all data required for the CRF is collected and all evaluations and procedures required by the protocol are completed. Additionally, these tools can be easily given to another coordinator to perform a study visit or procedure in the event that the study coordinator specifically trained on the protocol is unable to be there. The source documents are intended to increase overall organization of the study at each site and to increase efficiency during the site monitoring visits.

The Dexamethasone Study Drug Dosing Regimen Tool is available to help investigators and coordinators verify correct study drug dosing. The Subject Diary is to be administered at hospital discharge in the event that the Taper Regimen has not been completed. Coordinators

will collect the Diary at Follow-up Visit One and file in the subject's Source Document binder.

The Oucher and Numeric Rating Scale Posters are located here as well as the documents required for the ACS Assessments performed by the bedside staff nurse.

B. CSCC Website Instructions

- I. Accessing the secure website
 - A. The CSCC secure website is a password-protected website resource for staff who are working on CSCC trials, including Investigators and Study Coordinators. This site provides a staff directory and study specific documents and information (displayed in your browser in PDF format). Adobe Reader is required to read the PDFs.
 - B. Select a username (the first letter of your first name followed by up to seven letters of you last name) and password (six or more characters, with a numeric digit somewhere in the middle) by completing a "Website Access Form." An access form is provided in this Study Information Manual. The completed form should be returned to Allison Overington at the SDMC. For security purposes, please **DO NOT** use email to notify the SDMC of your username and password. Your username and password will be activated no later than one week after returning the access form.
 - C. Once you have been granted access to the secure website, go to <u>www.rhoworld.com</u>.
 To access the RhoNET[™] login page, select the LOGIN button in the upper-right corner of the page.

II. RhoNETTM Login Page

- A. Type your username and password, then click "Login" to access RhoNETTM, your access point to the CSCC website.
- B. On the next page you will see the following categories: "User Preferences" and "Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers."
- C. To change your password, click on "Change Password" under User Preferences.

- D. Otherwise, click on "Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers."
- III. The Secure Website Home Page
 - A. The "Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers" banner with blue letters will appear at the top of any page on the site, except when you are viewing a document such as the Protocol or consent forms.
 - B. Announcements will be displayed in the gray box in the center of the Home Page.
 These announcements will include upcoming meetings or conference calls, as well as a link to relevant documents for each of the specific events.
- IV. The Calendar
 - A. The calendar lists all scheduled events related to CSCC studies such as conference calls, annual meetings, and certain deadlines.
 - B. When you click on the calendar link, the current month will be displayed. To view following months, click on the pull-down menu on the upper-left side of the calendar and choose the month you wish to view.
 - C. To view details for a scheduled event, click on the name of the event in the calendar. A small pop-up window will provide additional information about the event.
- V. Enrolled Patient Lists
 - A. These lists have been generated from the Electronic Data Capture System that study coordinators use to input data about each of their patients involved in a CSCC Study. These lists are center-specific in visibility and are sorted in one of two ways, by site ID or by patient ID. Study coordinators can use these tables to view IDs and the demographic information that correlates to them to prevent patients from getting assigned multiple CSCC IDs when they are involved in more than one study.
 - B. These lists are also located under the EDC Links Category on the Dexamethasone webpage where they are referred to as Patient Registration ID Numbers.

VI. Staff Directory

- A. The staff directory contains information for everyone involved with CSCC studies.
- B. After clicking on the Staff Directory link, you will see a pull-down menu on the top left. This menu allows you to filter by a group of contacts (e.g., Center Directors, Peripheral Data Coordinators, SDMC members). Simply choose the group you are interested in and click the "Go" button. The list you asked for will be displayed below in alphabetical order.

VII. Dexamethasone Study Webpage

- A. To view study documents and forms, click on the Dexamethasone link listed on the right side of the home page.
- B. After clicking on the Dexamethasone link, you will be brought to the Dexamethasone webpage. This page will have several different categories with several different types of documents as described above. Choose the study document that you are interested in reviewing and click directly on it.
- C. Protocols and all consent form templates will be displayed in your browser in PDF format. You may then print the desired document(s) from your computer if you wish. You must have Adobe Reader installed on your computer to view any document in PDF format. You can download this software for free from http://www.adobe.com.
- D. Many other forms will be saved as Microsoft Word documents. You may then print or save the form to your computer. After saving, you may edit the document as needed.
- VIII. Logging Off and Support
 - A. To log out, click the "Log Out" hyperlink on the upper-right side of the home page. Simply closing your browser or going to another URL will not log you off.
 - B. If you have question regarding content, updates, or technical issues contact Allison Overington (919-408-8000, ext. 581) at Rho or by email at aoverington@rhoworld.com.
 - C. If you have forgotten your username or password, call the SDMC Help Desk at Rho at 1-800-905-0460.

C. CSCC Website Access Form

The website access form can be downloaded from the CSCC secure website under the **Forms** section. Print the form, fill it out, and fax it to Allison Overington (Fax: 919-287-0126) in order to gain access to the secure CSCC website.

D. Electronic Data Capture Instructions

The following pages provide instructions for using Rho's electronic data capture (EDC) system. These instructions are also available electronically within the EDC system.

VIII. DATA COLLECTION

A. Assignment of ID Numbers

Each patient enrolled in any CSCC study (both multi-center and within-center) will be registered as a CSCC patient through Rho's electronic data capture (EDC) system, and assigned a 7-digit CSCC ID number. This CSCC ID number will be used to identify subjects in the Dexamethasone study, and all CSCC studies (both multi-center and within center) thereafter. As such, the CSCC ID# is not study specific and can be used to track a patient's progress in multiple CSCC studies. The first two digits of the CSCC ID# will identify the Center at which the patient is enrolled, and the next five digits will uniquely identify the patient.

If a study coordinator is enrolling a subject in their second (or third, etc) study they will go to the EDC Link for the study in which they want to enroll the subject; in this case, Dexamethasone. On the subject page of the EDC system, the study coordinator will click on "Import." Select the subject's CSCC ID# and click on "Import" again. The subject is automatically enrolled into the new study and the EDC system will advance to the study Case Report Forms.

If you are unsure as to whether or not a subject is already enrolled in a CSCC study, ask the subject first. If you are still unsure, or if you don't know their CSCC ID#, go to the "List of Patient Registration ID Numbers"; this document is located under EDC Links on the webpages for each of the individual studies. These documents are created directly from data entered into the EDC system and will give the study coordinator basic demographic information that will allow the patient's CSCC ID# to be located.

B. CSCC ID Number Assignment Log

CENTER NAME: _____ HOSPITAL: _____

CSCC ID	Subject	Subject	Medical	Date ID
Number	Name	Birthdate	Record #	Assigned

C. Electronic Data Capture (EDC)

EDC, Rho's internet-based remote data entry system, will be used to capture the data for the Dexamethasone study. Using this system, the clinic's study coordinator or data coordinator uses an internet browser (Internet Explorer or similar) to key data into electronic case report forms. Univariate and multivariate data validation tests are performed as the data are keyed and/or submitted and most implausible data values are resolved immediately. Data are not stored on the site's computer. At the end of each "page," data are submitted to Rho's secure web server using SSL (128 byte public key encryption methodology) and stored in the study's "operational database." (The database used for capturing, validating, updating, and storing the data is called an "operational database.") The database is backed up nightly; backup tapes are saved in a secure, off-site location. At any time site personnel may log in to the system, review and correct previously entered data, key additional data, or lock records to prevent further inadvertent modifications.

The pages will be accessible via the CSCC website and require Center-specific user ID/password privileges. The data will be converted to intermediate datasets prior to incorporation into the Dexamethasone study format (SAS datasets).

D. Source Documentation

Any of the documents addressed in this manual may be subject to and available for audit and inspection by federal regulatory authorities. For this reason, it is absolutely necessary to obtain quality data from individuals' medical records and interviews.

To substantiate that each subject meets the subject inclusion criteria, the investigator should maintain records of the subject's medical history before enrollment in the Dexamethasone study (if these records exist in the investigator's own research files or hospital files).

E. Monitoring Visits

Representatives from the SDMC will visit each site at least twice annually for data and regulatory monitoring. Additional visits may be necessary if there are problems with data quality, subject accrual, etc.

The main purpose of these visits is to assist the site personnel in accurate data collection and use of the EDC system. At this visit, the representatives will:

- Review study documentation
- Review and discuss recruitment and enrollment
- Observe data abstraction and data entry process to ensure adherence to the protocol
- Review compliance with Informed Consent procedures
- Review participants' records and case report forms for completeness
- Review and discuss data management issues
- Discuss any site-specific issues, problems, or suggestions

The length of the visit will vary based on the amount of data to be reviewed.

No special preparation is required for these visits except to have the research and medical records available and the appropriate CRF pages completed via the EDC system. The visitors will need a private space or room in which to review participants' research and medical records and other study documentation. A written report will be sent to the site following the visit.

IX. RHORAND

A. RhoRAND Links:

RhoRAND is the Centralized Interactive Randomization system for the Dexamethasone protocol. Sites will access this system by logging into the CSCC secure website with a RhoNET User ID, just as they do for EDC and other study documents. Select "RhoRAND > Dexamethasone" on the Dexamethasone study page to access RhoRAND. Users must have a RhoRAND user ID and PIN to gain access to the system. Each user will need to submit the RhoRAND user access form found on the Dexamethasone study page to the Rho Study Administrator.

- Sites will have access to both web and phone RhoRAND applications. Users must execute the randomization practice function on the web interface at least one full business day prior to randomizing a subject.
- Users interested in using the phone interface must also practice via the phone one full business day prior to randomizing a subject. The Phone number to randomize a subject is: 1-888-RAND-DEX or 1-888-726-3339.
- Users must keep their email addresses or fax numbers current in Rho*RAND*TM so notifications are sent to the correct location.
- Help Desk hours are 7 days a week 8:00 am to 12:00 am, excluding company designated holidays. The Help Desk number is: 1-888-DEX-9110 or 1-800-905-0460.
- Subject IDs are 7 digits. The first 2 digits represent the center number at which the subject is enrolled. The 3rd through 6th digits are a sequential count of subjects at the center, beginning with 0001 within each center. The 7th digit is a check-digit.

B. RhoRAND Reference Guides:

The Study Coordinator Dexamethasone Reference Guide, Site Pharmacist reference Guide, and Blind Break Guide are located under the RhoRAND section of the Dexamethasone study page. These guides provide users with information regarding randomizing a subject, shipment of drug, and breaking the blind. Note: If possible, the Medical Monitor or Protocol Chair must be contacted prior to accessing RhoRAND to perform the Blind Break function. Their contact information is located under Dexamethasone Contact Information, SDMC study team and below. The practice Blind Break function must be performed (as all other RhoRAND functions) at least one business day prior to a user having live access.

<u>Protocol Chair:</u>	Charles T. Quinn, M.D.
	The University of Texas Southwestern
	Medical Center at Dallas (CMC)
	Non-Emergency: (214) 648-3896, office
	Emergency Only: (214) 707-2027, cell
	(972) 206-9157, pager
	Charles.quinn@utsouthwestern.edu
Medical Monitor:	Rupa Redding-Lallinger, MD
	UNC Hospital at Chapel Hill, NC
	Non-Emergency: (919) 966-8080 – Office
	Emergency Only: (919) 216-3522

rredding@med.unc.edu

C. RhoRAND Training Slides:

The RhoRAND training slide pdf documents for site pharmacists and coordinators are located under the RhoRAND section on the Dexamethasone study page. Please review these slides PRIOR to screening for subjects.

D. RhoRAND Worksheet:

The RhoRAND worksheet is located under the RhoRAND section on the Dexamethasone study page. This worksheet has the information required when sites access either the web or phone applications to randomize a subject. There is both a simple and detailed version of the worksheet.

X. RHOLAB

A. RhoLAB Links:

RhoLAB is the Central Laboratory Tracking system for the Biomarker specimens. Sites will access this system by logging into the CSCC secure website with a RhoNET User ID, just as they do for EDC and other study documents. Select "RhoLAB > Dexamethasone" on the Dexamethasone study page to access RhoLAB directly.

Sites will use barcode scanners and labels to enter specimen information into the system. Sites will create and track shipments of samples (batched every 2 weeks) to the Central Lab of Dr. Marie Stuart. The system will also track shipments from Dr. Stuart's Lab to Dr. Frans Kuypers lab (Central Lab #2).

B. RhoLAB User Guide:

Dexamethasone User Guide: click on this link to access the User Guide directly. You may also print out a paper copy to use in your lab manual.

C. RhoLAB Training Slides:

The RhoLAB training slides pdf document is located under the RhoLAB section on the Dexamethasone study page. Please review the slide presentation PRIOR to your SIV and screening for subjects.

D. RhoLAB Processing and Guidelines for Obtaining Samples Documents:

The RhoLAB Processing Chart and Guidelines for Obtaining Samples are located under the RhoLAB section on the Dexamethasone study page. These are instructional guides to use while drawing and processing the Biomarker specimens. They also describe the comments and information about the specimens that are needed in the RhoLAB and EDC systems.

E. RhoLAB Visio Flow Chart:



X. RHOLAB Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0
F. RhoLAB Tracking Log:

The RhoLAB Tracking log is located under the RhoLAB section on the Dexamethasone study page. This log **MUST** be used as a source document for the biomarker bar code numbers. Rho will send each site pre-printed specimen labels with the bar code number on them. The labels come in rolls with 3 labels per row. Coordinators will use one row per specimen, placing one label on the cryovial, one in the Tracking Log, and one left over in the event of an error (i.e. label tears while placing in log or on cryovial). Discard or line through the 3rd label on a row if it is not used.

G. RhoLAB Lab Kit Supply Order Form:

The RhoLAB lab kit supply order form is located under the RhoLAB section on the Dexamethasone study page. Therapak will be shipping lab supply kits and dry ice shippers to each site. Rho will place each site's initial order after IRB approval. Sites will use the Therapak re-order form to replenish their supplies after this. Please note that Therapak will ship supplies via FedEx ground service, therefore plan for sufficient time for shipment of supplies while ordering.

XI. GENERAL STUDY POLICIES

A. Site Approval Process

Study sites for the Dexamethasone study must meet the Human Rights Issues requirements in order to conduct the study. All study staff must be trained in all aspects of the study conduct and procedures, which is covered in the Training section.

Human Rights

1. IRB/Informed Consent Approval

The IRB approval process as established by the NHLBI and adopted by the CSCC is described in great detail in this Study Information Manual under section **V. IRB Process.** In summary, sites must obtain approval of their individual site-customized informed consent materials from the Dexamethasone study informed consent review committee **before** submission to site IRBs. Any IRB-requested changes in the informed consents must be resubmitted to the informed consent review committee and approved before resubmission to site IRBs. Once site IRB approval is obtained, sites must forward **any communications** from site IRBs, including requests for revisions, as well as the actual approval letter to the SDMC at Rho, Inc. who will in turn, forward these to NHLBI to indicate approval for release of study funds to the site.

2. NIH Human Subjects Training Certificate

The NIH requires that all investigators and research staff who apply or receive NIH funds for research involving human subjects or research data related to human subject research must have completed the mandatory <u>NIH Human Participant Protections: Education for Research Teams</u> training. The NIH has developed a web-based course and it may be accessed at: <u>http://cme.cancer.gov/clinicaltrials/learning/humanparticipant-protections.asp</u>

Certificates of completion of the training are provided for printout by the NIH website and should be kept in hard copy on file at each study site for each member of the research staff. An example of this certification is attached.

dell'Al Human Participant Protections Education for Research

Completion Certificate

This is to certify that

Joe Research Coordinator

has completed the Human Participants Protection Education for Research Teams online course, sponsored by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), on 10/08/2003.

This course included the following:

- · key historical events and current issues that impact guidelines and legislation on human participant protection in research.
- ethical principles and guidelines that should assist in resolving the ethical issues inherent in the conduct of research with human participants.
- the use of key ethical principles and federal regulations to protect human participants at various stages in the research process.
- a description of guidelines for the protection of special populations in research.
 a definition of informed consent and components necessary for a valid consent.
- a description of the role of the IRB in the research process.
- the roles, responsibilities, and interactions of federal agencies, institutions, and researchers in conducting research with human participants.

National Institutes of Health http://www.nih.gov

http://cme.cancer.gov/cgi-bin/cms/cts-cert5.pl

10/8/03

B. Confidentiality and Security of Data

1. Patient Confidentiality

As in all medical research projects, personnel involved in the Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome should keep the confidentiality of the study participants foremost in their minds. The following list includes just the basic issues that must be attended to at all research sites and the Statistics and Data Coordinating Center (SDCC).

- All study forms should be kept in secure, locked file cabinets when not being used for research purposes such as interviewing, editing, data entry, etc.
- Dexamethasone study participants provide us with very personal and sensitive medical information. This information should be treated with respect and should not be discussed.
- Study computers should not be left on and unprotected with study information on the screen or accessible to non-study personnel. Those who use the dexamethasone data management system should log out when they will be away from the computer for more than a few minutes.
- Participant information should be provided to other study personnel on a need-to-know basis only.
- Participant information should not be provided to anyone other than study personnel without discussing the request with the study site Principal Investigator.

2. Data Security

An electronic data capture (EDC) system, Rho's internet-based remote data entry system, will be used to capture the data for the Dexamethasone Study. Using this system, the clinic's study coordinator or data coordinator uses an internet browser (Internet Explorer or similar) to key data into electronic case report forms. Data are not stored on the site's computer. At the end of each "page," data are submitted to Rho's secure web server using SSL (128 byte public key encryption methodology) and stored in the study's "operational database." (The database used for capturing, validating, updating, and storing the data is called an "operational database.") The database is backed up nightly; backup tapes are saved in a secure, off-site location. At any time site personnel may log in to the system, review and correct previously entered data, key additional data, or lock records to prevent further inadvertent modifications.

The pages will be accessible via the CSCC website and require Center-specific user ID/password privileges. The data will be converted to intermediate datasets prior to incorporation into the Dexamethasone Study analysis datasets format (SAS datasets). Displays of their data will be sent to the study sites to confirm the data have been incorporated.

3. List of Rho, Inc. SOPs

Physical Security AD 105 Data Management DM 202 Study Setup DM 218 Data Management Disaster Recovery Plan DM 219 Handling of Completed CRFs DM 220 Statistical Analysis/Computing DM 220 Database Transfers ST 314 Information Technologies T 401 Access Control IT 401 Virus Protection IT 403 Software Development IT 426/SD 1012 Clinical Operations L 504/CO 504 Medical Writing MW 602 Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs RA 702 Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Data ManagementDM 202Study SetupDM 202Handling Controlled DocumentsDM 218Data Management Disaster Recovery PlanDM 219Handling of Completed CRFsDM 220Statistical Analysis/Computing Database TransfersST 314Information Technologies Access ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Data ManagementStudy SetupDM 202Handling Controlled DocumentsDM 218Data Management Disaster Recovery PlanDM 219Handling of Completed CRFsDM 220Statistical Analysis/Computing Database TransfersST 314Information TechnologiesST 314Access ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Study SetupDM 202Handling Controlled DocumentsDM 218Data Management Disaster Recovery PlanDM 219Handling of Completed CRFsDM 220Statistical Analysis/Computing Database TransfersST 314Information TechnologiesST 314Access ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Handling Controlled Documents DM 218 Data Management Disaster Recovery Plan DM 219 Handling of Completed CRFs DM 220 Statistical Analysis/Computing Database Transfers Database Transfers ST 314 Information Technologies ST 314 Access Control IT 401 Virus Protection IT 403 Software Development IT 403 Commercial Off the Shelf Software Validation IT 426/SD 1012 Clinical Operations Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Data Management Disaster Recovery Plan DM 219 Handling of Completed CRFs DM 220 Statistical Analysis/Computing Database Transfers Database Transfers ST 314 Information Technologies ST 314 Access Control IT 401 Virus Protection IT 403 Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software Validation Clinical Operations IT 426/SD 1012 Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure
Handling of Completed CRFs DM 220 Statistical Analysis/Computing Database Transfers ST 314 Information Technologies Access Control IT 401 Virus Protection IT 403 Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software Validation IT 426/SD 1012 Clinical Operations Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed Consent RA 702 RA 714 RA 714
Statistical Analysis/Computing Database Transfers ST 314 Information Technologies Access Control IT 401 Virus Protection IT 403 Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software Validation IT 426/SD 1012 Clinical Operations Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Database TransfersST 314Information TechnologiesIT 401Access ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Information TechnologiesAccess ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Access ControlIT 401Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Virus ProtectionIT 403Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702 RA 702 RA 706 Informed ConsentDocument Control Management ProcedureRA 714 RA 716
Software Development IT 426/SD 1012 Commercial Off the Shelf Software Validation IT 426/SD 1012 Clinical Operations Investigator Study Files Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports Medical Writing Document Control Room Procedures Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room Informed Consent RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Software Development Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702 RA 702 RA 706 Informed ConsentRA 706 RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure
Commercial Off the Shelf Software ValidationIT 426/SD 1012Clinical Operations Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702 RA 706 RA 706 Informed ConsentRA 714 RA 716
Clinical Operations CL 504/CO 504 Investigator Study Files CL 504/CO 504 Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Investigator Study FilesCL 504/CO 504Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study ReportsMW 602Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Medical Writing Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Production, Review, and Approval of Protocols for Study Reports MW 602 Regulatory Affairs Document Control Room Procedures RA 702 Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control Room RA 706 Informed Consent RA 714 Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Regulatory AffairsDocument Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Regulatory AffairsRA 702Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Document Control Room ProceduresRA 702Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Essential Documents File Structure – Document Control RoomRA 706Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Informed ConsentRA 714Document Control Management ProcedureRA 716
Document Control Management Procedure RA 716
Standard Operating Procedure Deviations RA 723
Ouality Assurance
Sponsor Audit RA 709/OA 901
Internal Audit RA 710/OA 902
Regulatory Agency Audit RA 711/OA 903
Vendor Audit RA 712/OA 904
Site Audit RA 713/OA 905

4. Information Technology

Electronic resources at Rho are protected through numerous physical security measures and user access controls. It is impossible, however, to eliminate completely the risk of damage to network files from various threats, including physical catastrophes, virus attacks, user errors, or other unusual circumstances. Rho's back-up and security procedures ensure that Rho can recover quickly from such an event with minimal data loss.

Web-based Network Communication System

Security for the Web site will be implemented through a table of authorities developed in agreement with Rho and NHLBI. Access rights will be automatically applied to the user as a function of the login process. Each user will be required to access the site through a login screen, with the login screen having a mechanism by which the public can log into the system as a "Guest." Users affiliated with Rho and NHLBI or their sites or laboratories affiliated with the study will be required to arrange a login name and password with Rho prior to accessing features of the site not available to the public. Level of access for those individuals will be controlled through the table of authorities. Access restrictions will be automatic, and features for which the user does not have access will not appear on the menu.

Back-up and Recovery

The network administrator is responsible for all back-ups and restorations. Network files are backed-up to tape on a routine schedule established by the director of Information Technology, with back-up typically scheduled daily. The schedule has a combination of incremental and full back-ups with a full back-up obtained at least once weekly. To perform the back-up, the IT Director loads the appropriate tape into the tape drive on the designated back-up servers prior to the end of business hours each day. The back-up is performed automatically by the system at regularly scheduled times between 11:30 p.m. and 5:00 a.m. The next business day, the IT Director retrieves the tape, checks the back-up server's activity log to ensure that the back-up was executed successfully, enters the date/time of the back-up completion and tape identification, and reviews/initials/dates the back-up log. The back-up tape is removed to a secure remote location and maintained in a fire safe box.

Daily back-up tapes are rotated through a cycle of at least four weeks. A full back-up tape is taken out of rotation at the end of every month, and these designated tapes are retained for two years as archival material. In the event of network data loss, the network administrator retrieves the appropriate back-up tape. The tape is write-protected and used to restore data to the network.

Virus Protection

The need to exchange files with clients and other business associates exposes Rho's network and workstations to the possibility of attack by computer viruses and related entities. Each computer on the Rho network has anti-virus software running at all times. The software is configured to automatically scan all floppy disks and executable files introduced to the system, as well as all documents that may contain executable macros. The network administrator ensures that all computers are using up-to-date versions of the anti-virus software.

Workstations are configured to update their virus definitions automatically on a weekly basis. Virus definitions are also updated when special virus alerts are received from software vendors or other sources. Workstations are configured to update their virus definitions from the file server automatically on a weekly basis. When a new alert is received, the network administrator alerts all users to manually update their virus definitions immediately.

An additional layer of virus protection is installed on Rho's corporate mail server. The mail server scans all incoming and outgoing emails and attachments for viruses before they are delivered. The software checks for updated virus definitions every night. If a virus is detected in an email, the message is deleted and the sender gets an automated alert that they have transmitted an infected email.

Disaster Recovery

Preparing and testing disaster recovery procedures, and performing a recovery after a disaster, are the responsibilities of the network administrator at Rho, Inc. These plans fall into two general categories: overall preparation and recovery, and preparation for a potential disaster for which advance warning is available.

Electric current to all Rho computer and telephone equipment is supplied via Uninterruptible Power Supplies (UPS) for protection from power interruptions, power surges (e.g., from lightning strikes), and other power abnormalities. An information technology professional is on call during all business hours and most non-business hours to deal with an information technology emergency.

As described above, a network administrator oversees routine back-ups of all network files, including all project and system files. Each business day the back-up media from the previous night or weekend are stored in a fire safe box at a secure off site location. For long-term storage, a network administrator retains the last full back-up of each calendar month in a bank safety deposit box. Media (such as magnetic tapes) from other dates are retained for three months and then re-used. All Rho, Inc. data are stored on Redundant Disk Arrays (RAID) at the file servers and are backed up routinely; no project files are stored on individual computers.

The LAN file servers are kept in network equipment rooms that also contain other dedicated servers and equipment. These interior rooms are protected from the elements and are equipped with a fire extinguisher, smoke detector, and environmental monitor. All equipment in these rooms is located well off the floor in order to avoid or minimize water damage, e.g., in the event of a fire. A network administrator's office is located in close proximity to each network equipment room. The room is locked at all times. Access is limited to network administrators, their back-up personnel, and senior management.

Rho maintains four gas powered electrical generators that will be used to produce electricity for critical electronic equipment in the event of prolonged power outage. All paper documents relating to computer software and equipment are stored either in the network equipment room or in the controlled documents room that is protected from the elements and from unauthorized access.

Preparation for Potential Disaster with Advance Warning

Rho personnel will prepare for any possible disaster for which advance warning is available. The most probable of these in the Chapel Hill area are power outages from an ice storm or a

hurricane. Preparations will include protecting the equipment and electronic data. In such an event, all users are required to log out of the system, to turn off their IT equipment, and unplug all of the equipment from the wall outlets. The network administrator makes a complete back-up of the network drives; the back-up media are stored in a secure off site location.

The file servers will be shut down according to equipment requirements, and all electrical equipment will be turned off and unplugged from electric outlets. All equipment will be temporarily moved to the tops of desks or on shelves, well off the floor. No equipment will be stored on the floor, with the exception of equipment that is too large and heavy to be supported any other way. All critical equipment will be covered with plastic, and, if the event is deemed likely to involve wind and water (e.g. a hurricane), all equipment will be covered with plastic. Large equipment will be moved to interior rooms if possible.

The procedure is tested at least annually for network servers and a representative selection of other equipment. If the procedures are tested by preparation for an actual event, further testing is required within the year following the event. The network administrator documents the test and signs off on having conducted the test, whether as part of an actual event or a test.

Testing

Testing the ability to recover from an IT emergency is performed at least annually if no actual IT emergency has occurred from which recovery was successfully performed. If such an emergency has occurred, then the next scheduled test would be conducted within a year of such recovery or immediately after a significant procedure change. The network administrator is responsible for testing. The ability of the network to recover from an emergency is tested by intentionally bringing the network down. To minimize disruption of productive work, the test is conducted after usual business hours. Immediately prior to the test the network administrator produces a complete back-up of all network drives. All users are required to log out of the system prior to the disruption of network service. After all users have logged off, several workstations are logged in so that the test can be conducted with some workstations on the network.

The network administrator turns off the power to the file server and all logged in workstations, literally by pulling the electric plugs from wall sockets. The testers observe the responses of the UPS to the loss of electrical power. The UPS should continue to power the network file server for at least 30 minutes and the workstations for at least 15 minutes. After a specified period and before loss of UPS power, each network file server should shut itself down automatically and gracefully. Test personnel manually shut down workstations before loss of UPS power.

Power is restored to the system to test the restoration process. A representative set of files is restored from the back-ups that were made immediately prior to the test. The files are restored to a logical drive different from the original drives. The network administrator compares the restored files to the original files and IT personnel investigate any discrepancies. If problems are discovered, corrective actions are taken, and the process is repeated. The network administrator documents the test and initials and dates the form indicating that the test has been completed.

Recovery

In the event of an actual disaster, it is the responsibility of the IT personnel and senior management to assess the extent of the damage and make decisions about recovery. A recovery team will be comprised of the following positions: President, Vice President in charge of Information Technology, Controller, IT personnel, and a representative from Data Management, Software Development, and Statistical Programming. The recovery team will meet at the facility of Rho, Inc. as soon as the danger to safety has passed to assess the damage and determine an optimal course of action. Should the company facility not be available, an alternate facility will be chosen at this point.

The recovery strategy will, of course, depend on the nature and extent of the disaster, but the major decision makers for the company will be involved in the recovery team. The goal will be to restore productivity, and the responsibility of the recovery team is to restore productivity as soon as possible.

Website Security

Over the past five years, Rho has developed and implemented extensive procedures to safeguard information on Rho's networks, including websites maintained by RhoFED for NIH studies. The figure below shows the network architecture employed at Rho.



As shown in the figure, Rho uses a packet filtering firewall to control, monitor, and restrict communications to and from internal networks. Two networks exist within the firewall. The first is sealed off from communications initiated from outside. This private internal network is used for all production work, such as clinical trial data management or creation of analysis datasets. No communications with this network can be initiated from outside the firewall or from the second network, called "the DMZ."

The DMZ contains web servers, email servers and other servers that are involved in responding to communications initiated from outside the firewall. To safeguard information located on the DMZ, Rho uses network security features that restrict access to system files and scripts so that only IT support staff can access them.

The network administrator ensures that no software daemons are running on servers located in the DMZ except those necessary for the operation of the server.

The web development team uses SSH Secure Shell protocol to handle remote management of web servers. This capability is provided only for management within Rho's firewall. No remote management from outside the firewall is permitted.

The system console is kept in a locked room, to which only a few individuals have key access. In addition, the system console has machine-specific login restrictions – only IT support staff can login to it.

The firewall is configured to restrict the types of communications allowed to servers located in the DMZ. Additional safeguards implemented through web server software include encryption of secure web pages by using 128-bit server certificate and restriction of access to web server logs to IT support personnel.

All data are transmitted over the Internet securely using SSL (Secure Socket Layer). This is the same mechanism used by financial institutions for secure transmission of financial data and transactions.

Web pages are implemented using a proprietary framework called RhoNETTM, which provides additional security features:

- Access to secure pages requires a RhoNET[™] user ID/password login.
- Users are presented only with pages to which they have been granted access privileges.
- User access privileges are managed by a central administrator, and can be specified down to the level of individual files.

With regard to protection against spyware, the primary point of risk is a clinic's workstation. In most cases spyware is downloaded from the internet along with legitimate material when an unwary user clicks an "OK" button to download the legitimate material. This particular form of attack is not directly relevant to Rho's internet servers, which do not download such material. In addition, Rho's servers are protected by antiviral and anti-spyware software that is updated frequently (multiple times per day in the recent past). Rho cannot protect clinic workstations from spyware.

It is very unlikely that the central database would be the target of a spyware attack. The worst possible case would seem to be the use of spyware to capture an authorized user's central database userid and password, granting the attacker access to the data in the central database (but

not the structure or operating system). The attacker could view data, but without personal identifiers. In the worst case the attacker could also modify or delete data. Rho's systems would very likely detect the attack after the fact, and original data could be reconstructed from back-up data, but the cost would be high. Fortunately, such attackers are generally more interested in gaining access to people's bank accounts or charge card accounts and we note that this is a problem the financial industry–with its huge resources–is still attempting to solve.

C. Subject Study Withdrawal or Discontinuation

The following criteria will be used to determine whether or not subjects exhibit toxicities of the study drug(s) sufficient to require discontinuation from the study.

Study personnel will closely monitor signs, symptoms, and laboratory findings to assess for unexpected toxicities. Oral dexamethasone will be discontinued in any subject who experiences the following:

- 1. New hypertension (not pre-existing) that requires treatment with antihypertensive medications;
- 2. Stroke;
- 3. Gastrointestinal hemorrhage; or
- 4. Pregnancy

In addition, subjects will also have dexamethasone discontinued if they become unable to orally ingest dexamethasone or, at the request of the subject, for any reason. Investigators may discontinue any subject at their discretion, if in their professional opinion, the subject's health, safety, and/or well-being is threatened by continued participation in the study. In the event that dexamethasone is stopped, subjects will continue to be followed by study personnel to assess for potential side effects of dexamethasone administration.

Adverse events caused by participation in the study may necessitate modifications to a subject's level of participation or discontinuation from the study. Subjects who discontinue early from the study will be replaced.

Subjects who discontinue prematurely from the study for any reason will be encouraged to maintain the follow-up clinic visits that are scheduled after discharge. Study personnel will contact subjects by phone to encourage attendance.

Upon study discontinuation, the study completion page of the case report form must be completed (see CRF on the Dexamethasone study page found on the secure CSCC website).

D. Adverse Event and Serious Adverse Event Reporting

1. Adverse Events

An Adverse Event (AE) for the dexamethasone study is defined as any untoward medical occurrence in a clinical investigation subject administered a pharmaceutical product that does not necessarily have a causal relationship with this treatment. An AE can therefore be any unfavorable and unintended sign (including an abnormal laboratory finding), symptom, or disease temporally associated with the use of a medicinal (investigational) product, whether or not related to the medicinal (investigational) product. AE data are recorded on the Adverse Event Case Report Form (CRF).

An unexpected AE is an adverse reaction, the nature or severity of which is not consistent with the applicable product information (i.e., Investigator's Brochure for an unapproved investigational medicinal product). Cases in which the AE is more severe than currently described in the Investigator's Brochure are also considered "unexpected".

2. Serious Adverse Events

A serious adverse event (SAE) is defined as any untoward medical occurrence that at any dose:

• Results in death;

- Is life-threatening (i.e., an event in which the subject was at risk of death at the time of the event; it does not refer to an event which hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe).
- Requires inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization.
- Results in persistent or significant disability/incapacity.
- Results in a congenital anomaly/birth defect.
- In the opinion of the investigator, important medical events that may not be immediately life-threatening or result in death or hospitalization but may jeopardize the subject or may require an intervention to prevent one of the other outcomes listed in the definition above, may be serious. Examples of such events are intensive treatment in an emergency room or at home for allergic bronchospasm; blood dyscrasias or convulsions that do not result in hospitalization; or development of drug dependency or drug abuse.

For the purpose of this study, an **expected SAE** is an AE that is serious, expected, and likely related to the subject's underlying disease process. SAE data are recorded on the Serious Adverse Event Case Report Form (CRF). For this study AEs listed in the following table are expected SAEs.

Expected AE	Expected AE	Expected AE		
Acne	Fluid Retention	Pain, long bone		
Acute chest syndrome	Gastric Ulceration	Pain, severe abdominal		
Anemia	Gastritis	Priapism		
Aplastic crisis	Glucosuria	Pulmonary thromboembolism (age ≥ 18 yr only)		
Aplastic crisis/anemia	Hand-foot syndrome	Pulmonary hypertension		
Arthralgia	Hematuria	Pulmonary parenchymal infiltrates on chest x-ray		
Avascular Necrosis	Hemiplegia	Pyelonephritis		
Avascular necrosis of hip/shoulder	Hemolysis	Renal failure		
Avascular necrosis of the femoral head	Hepatosplenomegaly	Renal insufficiency/albuminuria		
Bone infarction	Hyperglycemia	Renal papillary necrosis		
Cardiomegaly	Hyperplastic bone marrow	Reticulocytosis (310%–20%)		
Cerebrovascular accident	Hypertension	Retinal disease		
Cholecystitis, hepatic sequestration	Hyposthenuria	Retinal hemorrhage		
Cranial nerve palsy	Hypoxemia (PO2 < 65mm Hg)	Rash		
Decreased kidney function	Infection, pneumococcal	Rhabdomyolysis		
Decreased lung function	Jaundice	Sensis		
Delayed growth/puberty	Leukocytosis	Skin ulcers		
Delayed wound healing	Meningitis	Splenic sequestration		
Depressed ESR	Mood Changes	Vaso-occlusive crisis		
Dyspepsia	Nausea and vomiting	Weight Gain		
Elevated urinary urobilinogen	Pain, joint	Pulmonary parenchymal infiltrates		
Elevated urinary urobilinogen Fever	ram, joint	Pulmonary parenchymal infiltrates on chest x-ray		

Table A. List of Expected Adverse Events in this Study

3. Assessment of Adverse Event and Serious Adverse Event Severity

1	Mild. Awareness of sign, symptom, or event, but easily tolerated; does not interfere
	with usual daily activities or tasks.
2	Moderate. Discomfort enough to cause interference with usual daily activity; may
	warrant therapeutic intervention.
3	Severe. Incapacitating; inability to perform usual activities and daily tasks;
	significantly affects clinical status; requires therapeutic intervention.
4	Life-threatening. Adverse event is life-threatening.
5	Death. Adverse event causes death.

The following scale will be used to grade the severity of all AEs and SAEs:

4. Assessment of AE/SAE Relationship to Study Drug

The standard nomenclature for defining the causal relationship between an AE/SAE and the study drug used by CSCC is listed in the table below. The category that overall best "fits" the relationship between the AE/SAE and the study drug should be chosen and recorded on the AE or SAE case report form.

Unrelated	• No temporal association to study product.
	• An alternate etiology has been established.
	• The event does not follow the known pattern of response to
	study product.
	• The event does not reappear or worsen with re-challenge.
Probably not	• No temporal association to study product.
related / remote	• Event could readily be produced by clinical state,
	environmental, or other interventions.
	• The event does not follow the known pattern of response to
	study product.
	• The event does not reappear or worsen with re-challenge.
Possibly related	• Reasonable temporal relationship to study product.
	• The event is not readily produced by clinical state,
	environmental, or other interventions.
	• The event follows a known pattern of response to the study
	product or as yet unknown pattern of response.
Probably related	• There is a reasonable temporal association with the study
	product.
	• The event is not readily produced by clinical state,
	environmental, or other interventions.
	• The event follows a known pattern of response to the study
	product.
	• The event decreases with de-challenge.
Definitely related	• There is a reasonable temporal relationship to the study
,	product.
	• The event is not readily produced by clinical state,
	environmental, or other interventions.
	• The event follows a known pattern of response to the study
	product.
	• The event decreases with de-challenge and recurs with re-
	challenge.

Table B. Relationship Between Study Product (Drug) and AE

5. SAE Reporting Time Period

- SAE reporting will begin with events that occur after the informed consent is signed until 30 days after the last dose of study drug.
- An unexpected SAE must be reported within **8 hours** of discovering the event has occurred to the Lead PI and the CSCC SDMC Product Safety Associate.

- An expected SAE must be reported within **3 business days** of discovery to the Lead PI and the CSCC SDMC Product Safety Associate.
- All site PIs are responsible for reporting SAEs to the appropriate IRB in accordance with their local laws and regulations.
- Forward an SAE Announcement Email to the SDMC Product Safety Associate and the CSCC SAE Team, alerting them a SAE has occurred. The email address is: <u>DexamethasoneSAE@RhoWorld.com</u>
- Fax the completed SAE Report form and supporting documentation to the attention of the CSCC Clinical Safety Specialist, Rho Clinical Trials Safety Center at: (919) 287-3998.
- The **SAE Form** is found on the secure CSCC website on the Dexamethasone study page under **Regulatory Documents**.

CSCC SAE Team:

- 1. Lead Principal Investigator: Charles Quinn, MD
- 2. Medical Monitor: Rupa Redding-Lallinger, MD
- 3. Rho, Inc. SDMC Lead: Karen Kesler, PhD
- 4. Rho, Inc. Study Coordinator: Melanie Chelednik
- 5. Rho, Inc. SDMC Product Safety Associate: Victoria C. Williams, PharmD

6. General Instructions for SAE Reporting and Documentation

- Complete all fields/boxes on the AE and SAE forms. The persons processing the form will not know if you left something blank intentionally (because the information is not available) or if you forgot to fill it in.
- 2. It is important to provide as much information as possible on the initial SAE report.
- 3. If some information is not available at the time the initial SAE report is completed, provide at minimum the following:
 - CSCC Id
 - Center code

- Hospital code
- Site name
- Report date
- SAE category
- Study Product Data
- Event Name
- Onset Date
- Relationship of the event to the study drug.
- 4. Write legibly staying within the boxes provided. If additional space is needed please use additional pages.
- 5. To delete or change an entry, please use a black pen and draw a single line through the original entry. Initial and date the change.
- 6. Write "UNK" in the fields where information is not yet available. Please provide the missing information in the follow-up.
- 7. The date format is DD/MMM/YYYY (e.g., 10/Feb/2006)
- 8. **Note:** The Protocol Chair, Charles Quinn, must be consulted prior to permanent premature discontinuation of the study medication.

7. Instructions for Initial SAE Report

- Check the Initial Report box, located in the upper left corner, on all three pages of the SAE form.
- 2. Write the CSCC ID, Center Code, Hospital Code, Site Name and the Report Date on all pages of the SAE form.
- 3. Write the subject's age in years.
- 4. Write the subject's weight. Circle the appropriate unit—lbs. or kgs.
- 5. Check the check box corresponding to the **subject's gender**.
- 6. **SAE category:** check all that apply.
- 7. Study Product Data:

- A. If the study product has not been started, write "not applicable" in the dose and date fields and indicate that study product has not been started in the "Other, specify" area of the Study Product Status field at the bottom left of page 1.
- B. If the study product administration was complete before the SAE, write "not applicable" in the dose and date fields and check the "Study Product Administration Complete" check box in the Study Product Status field.
- C. If the subject is on study product, indicate the time of the SAE, include the entire dosing schedule the subject had received in the Event Summary section of the SAE report form (including the taper given, if applicable).
- D. Dose, Route, Schedule of Study Product(s) at SAE Onset: (e.g. 12mg po q 12 hours).
- E. Study Product Start Date: the date the subject began the dose indicated in the Dose, Route, Schedule of Study Product(s) at SAE Onset field.
- F. Study Product Stop Date: the date the subject stopped the dose indicated in the *Dose, Route, Schedule of Study Product(s) at SAE Onset* field.
- 8. **Event:** provide the diagnosis. Symptoms may be provided initially, but a diagnosis should be provided in follow-up. (e.g. Influenza instead of runny nose and fever)
- 9. **Date of Onset:** date the event or symptom(s) began.
- 10. Severity: check one box only.
- 11. Relationship to Study Product: Check one box only.
- 12. If NOT RELATED, what is the event related to: check the box(es) corresponding to the investigator's opinion of what the event is related to if "unrelated" was checked in the *Relationship to Study Product* field. Additionally, specify what the event is related to.
- 13. **Study Product Status:** indicate if the administration of the treatment regimen was completed, continuing, deferred, adjusted, or whether a study product was discontinued permanently as a result of the SAE. If another course of action was utilized, please specify what that was. If the study product had not yet been started indicate in the "Other" check box that study product has not been started prior to SAE.

- 14. Subject Status/Outcome: if "Ongoing" is checked, the event must be followed until it is resolved or stable to a point that is acceptable to both the Investigator and the Medical Monitor. If the event outcome is "Resolved with sequelae," please list the sequelae (e.g. if a subject were to experience a CVA with resulting left-sided weakness, the sequelae would be listed as left-sided weakness.)
- 15. Event Summary: please provide a complete description of the event, including any diagnostic or laboratory tests that were performed for diagnosis of the event. Also include intervention(s) provided for the event, course of the event, and outcome. Include any medical history that is relevant to the event. Be sure to include the site number and the CSCC ID number on all supporting documentation. Delete or completely obscure all personal information (name, subject initials, medical record number, etc.) Write the entire dosing schedule the subject has received (including the taper given if applicable) in the Event Summary.
- 16. Laboratory tests: include relevant abnormal lab results that contribute to an understanding of the event. Provide normal ranges and previous lab results, which may be relevant to the event. Please attach the lab reports to the SAE report form and indicate relevant results. Be sure to include the site number and the CSCC ID number on all lab reports. Delete or completely obscure all personal information (name, subject initials, medical record number, etc.)

Note: the following laboratory ranges may be used as **guidelines** for determining if lab results are abnormal for the patient population in this protocol. These are guidelines only and ultimately the decision as to whether any abnormal lab values are an AE/SAE for the subject is up to the site investigator:

	Low	High
WBC	2,500	49,999
RBC	1.5 million	4 million
HgB	5 g/dL	12 g/dL
НСТ	15 %	36 %
MCV	50 fL	125 fL
Platelets	50,000	750,000
Reticulocytes %	1%	50%
Absolute Reticulocytes	15,000	750,000

- 17. Diagnostic Tests: list relevant tests and test results for the event. Please attach the diagnostic report to the SAE report form and indicate relevant results. Be sure to include the site number and the CSCC ID number on all diagnostic reports. Delete or completely obscure all personal information (name, subject initials, medical record number, etc.)
- 18. **Concomitant medications:** list all relevant medications the subject was taking, starting from one month prior to SAE onset up to the time of SAE onset. Include the standard supportive care given to the patient (Analgesia, GI prophylaxis, and antimicrobial therapy). Enter the start date, stop date, dose, route, frequency, indication, and whether the medication was suspected in the causality of the SAE. If the medication was suspected in the causality of SAE, provide further detail in the event summary. If dose is unknown, check the unknown check box. If the subject was taking no relevant concomitant mediations, check the "No relevant concomitant medications" check box.
- 19. **Completed by/Investigator's signature:** the study staff member who completed the SAE form and the Investigator must sign and date the form.

8. Instructions for follow-up SAE Reports

- 1. Please complete a new CSCC SAE Report form promptly when new significant information is obtained regarding the SAE.
- 2. Complete the CSCC ID, Center Code, Hospital Code, Site Name and the Report Date on all pages of the SAE report form
- Check the Follow-up Report box located in the upper left corner, on all pages of the SAE report form.
- 4. With the exception of the event and onset date, enter only information that is new or changed from the information on the previously submitted report. Include the event and onset date for reference.
- 5. The study staff member who completed the SAE form and the Investigator must sign and date form.
- 6. Follow the SAE Reporting Guidelines listed under instructions for initial SAE report for directions on specific fields.

For questions about completing this form, please contact the CSCC Clinical Safety Specialist at (919)408-8000 extension 237. Hours of availability are Monday-Friday, 8:30am-5:30pm, United States Eastern Standard Time.

Contact Information: CSCC SDMC Product Safety Specialist Rho Clinical Trials Safety Center 633 Quadrangle Drive, Suite 500 Chapel Hill, NC 27517 Phone: (919) 408-8000 x 237 Fax: (919) 287-3998

9. Assessment of Adverse Events and Serious Adverse Events Outcome

Every AE/SAE must be followed to a satisfactory outcome or stabilization of the event, even when this requires a time period beyond the scope of the study. Outcome includes information on recovery and any sequelae, as well as specific tests and/or treatment that may have been required and their results. For a fatal outcome, cause of death and a comment on its possible relationship to the suspected reaction should be provided.

The terms used to define outcome areas follow:

- Ongoing,
- Resolved without sequelae,
- Resolved with sequelae, and
- Death.

Actions taken in response to an AE/SAE and follow-up results must be recorded in the subject's medical record (this includes follow-up laboratory results). Any treatment administered for the AE must be recorded in the subject's CRF. When subjects are discontinued from the study due to an AE/SAE, relevant clinical assessments and laboratory tests will be repeated as necessary until final resolutions or stabilization occurs.

E. Study Suspension Guidelines

Serious safety issues that arise in this study will be brought to the attention of the CSCC Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB), which will make recommendations to the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) regarding possible suspension of the study. The NHLBI will consider the DSMB's recommendations, determine an appropriate action and notify the Principal Investigator (PI) and the CSCC Statistics and Data Management Center (SDMC) on the pending status of the study. The Principal Investigator will notify all participating investigators, who will implement the actions directed by NHLBI. This section defines "serious safety issues" and describes procedures for bringing them to the attention of the DSMB.

The SDMC or PI will make the following types of reports that can alert the DSMB to a potential safety issue:

- Ad hoc reports of unexpected SAEs that are made within 7 or 15 calendar days, as specified in subsequent paragraphs.
- Reports of quarterly statistical analyses of all SAEs. The SDMC makes such analyses quarterly, but files a report to the DSMB only when analyses indicate that a safety issue has arisen, as defined by the "alert" criteria in Table 11.3.
- Semi-annual DSMB reports of analyses of adverse events and of clinical laboratory results. These reports will highlight any safety issues revealed by the analyses that meet the "alert" criteria in Table 11.3

Definitions for Suspension Guidelines

Table C contains definitions of words and phrases that have special meanings in Suspension Guidelines. The definitions are identical to, or as close as practical to definitions in Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations or "Guidance" documents.

Some of the definitions refer to "expected" or "unexpected" adverse events. Table A contains the list of "expected" adverse events in this study.

TABLE C. Definitions of Words and Phrases with Special Meanings in the Suspension Guidelines

Word or Phrase and	Definition
(Abbreviation)	
Adverse event (AE)	Any untoward clinical or medical occurrence.
Serious adverse	Any adverse event that results in any of the following outcomes:
event (SAE)	Death, a life-threatening adverse event, inpatient hospitalization or
	prolongation of existing hospitalization, a persistent or significant
	disability/incapacity, or a congenital anomaly/birth defect.
Expected Serious	An <i>expected SAE</i> for subjects in this study is an adverse event that
Adverse Event	is listed in Table 11.2 and is a serious adverse event, as defined
(Expected SAE)	above.
Unexpected Serious	An <i>unexpected SAE</i> for subjects in this study is any AE that is not
Adverse Event	listed in Table 11.2 and is a serious adverse event, as defined above.
(Unexpected SAE)	
Fisher's Exact Test	Fisher's exact test is a statistic computed from an $r \ge 2$ frequency
(FET) statistic	table to test the null hypothesis of independence of the rows and
	columns vs. the alternative hypothesis that the rows and columns
	are not independent, both conditioned on the marginal total
	frequencies. The FET statistic is a p-value. The algorithm for
	computing the FET statistic is given in numerous statistics
	textbooks.
Adverse Clinical	Each 6 months the SDMC will analyze the available clinical
Laboratory Results	laboratory data for treatment related trends in change from baseline.
	Any "statistically significant" (defined in Table 11.3) trends will be
	reported to the DSMB.

PROCEDURES

This section specifies procedures for alerting the DSMB to serious safety issues that arise in this study. The procedures are summarized in Table D.

Reports to the DSMB, Study Investigators, IRBs, and Other Authorities

The site investigator, the Principal Investigator, and the SDMC SAE Regulatory Specialist will collaborate to prepare a report of the unexpected SAE using the current version of FDA's SAE reporting forms. A fatal or life-threatening unexpected SAE will be reported to the DSMB within 7 calendar days of the receipt of the initial report by the SDMC SAE Regulatory Specialist. A non-fatal, non-life-threatening unexpected SAE will be reported to the DSMB within 15 calendar days of the receipt of the initial report by the SDMC SAE Regulatory Specialist.

The Principal Investigator will submit the DSMB report to the Chair of the DSMB Subcommittee appointed to monitor this study and to the NHLBI Project Officer.

The Principal Investigator will submit the unexpected SAE report to all study investigators. Each study investigator will submit the unexpected SAE report to the local IRB and other local authorities in accordance with the institution's regulations.

Serious adverse events are also recorded in the Adverse Events section of the study's case report form.

The site investigator will follow the progress of a subject who experiences an unexpected SAE until the SAE is resolved. When the unexpected SAE has not resolved by the report deadline, the site investigator will make follow-up reports in accordance with directions from the DSMB and/or the site's IRB.

Expected Serious Adverse Events Reports

Three months after the first subject is enrolled in the study, and at the end of each 3 months thereafter, if any SAEs (expected or unexpected) have been reported in the study during the preceding 3 months, the SDMC will:

- Use the current version of the MedDRA dictionary to code all AEs (serious or not) that have been recorded on study AE forms.
- Make a "snapshot" copy of the adverse events data, including MedDRA codes.
- Create frequency tables of treatment x occurrence (yes or no, since inception of the study) of all patients. One table will be created for each highest level MedDRA term for which SAEs have been reported. The counting units are patients, not events.
- Compute Fisher's Exact Test (FET) statistic to test the alternative hypothesis that occurrence of SAEs is not independent of treatment group. The FET p-value is not adjusted for multiplicity.

- If the FET p-value is less than the critical value shown in Table 11.3 and the active treatment group has a higher AE rate, the SDMC will conduct further statistical analyses as indicated by the circumstances and report the results to the Chair of the DSMB subcommittee monitoring this study, the Principal Investigator, and the NHLBI Project Officer.
- The SDMC will not file a report of expected SAEs if none of the FET p-values is less than the critical value shown in Table D or if the relative risk is less than 1.

Adverse Event Reports

Six months after the first subject is enrolled in the study, and at the end of each 6 months thereafter, the SDMC will:

- Use the current version of the MedDRA dictionary to code all AEs that have been recorded on study AE forms.
- Make a "snapshot" copy of the adverse events data, including MedDRA codes.
- Create frequency tables of treatment x occurrence (yes or no, since inception of the study) of all patients. One table will be created for each highest level MedDRA term for which AEs have been reported. The counting units are patients, not events.
- Compute Fisher's Exact Test (FET) statistic to test the alternative hypothesis that occurrence of AEs is not independent of treatment group. The FET p-value is not adjusted for multiplicity.
- If the FET p-value is less than the critical value shown in Table 11.3 and the active treatment group has a higher AE rate, the SDMC will conduct further statistical analyses as indicated by the circumstances and alert the DSMB to this finding in the semi-annual DSMB report.
- Collaborate with the Principal Investigator to incorporate the results into the study's semi-annual report to the DSMB and the NHLBI Project Officer.

Clinical Laboratory Results

Six months after the first subject is enrolled in the study, and at the end of each 6 months thereafter, the SDMC will:

- Make a "snapshot" copy of the study's clinical laboratory data.
- Perform an appropriate statistical analysis of clinical laboratory change-from-baseline data for each clinical laboratory evaluation obtained in this study.
- Perform an appropriate statistical test of
 - H₀: (The mean [or median, or proportion, as appropriate] change-frombaseline of the clinical laboratory values for the active treatment group is the same as for the control group), vs.
 - H_a: (The mean [or median, or proportion] change-from-baseline in the active treatment group is "worse" than for the control group). The meaning of "worse" depends upon the specific clinical lab measurement. The test statistic p-value is not adjusted for multiplicity.
 - If the hypothesis test p-value is less than the critical value shown in Table 11.3, the SDMC will conduct further statistical analyses as indicated by the circumstances and highlight this finding in the semi-annual DSMB report.
- Collaborate with the Principal Investigator to incorporate the results into the study's semi-annual report to the DSMB and the NHLBI Project Officer.

Reporting of Vaso-Occlusive Crisis Rebounds

Three months after the first subject is enrolled in the study, and at the end of each 3-month period thereafter, the SDMC will:

- Make a "snapshot" copy of the rebound data.
- Create frequency tables of treatment x occurrence of rebound (yes or no, since inception of the study) of all subjects. The counting units are subjects, not rebound events.

- Compute Fisher's Exact Test (FET) statistic to test the alternative hypothesis that occurrence of rebound is not independent of treatment group. The FET p-value is not adjusted for multiplicity.
- If the FET p-value is less than 0.025 and the active treatment group has a higher AE rate, the SDMC will conduct further statistical analyses as indicated by the circumstances and report the results to the Chair of the DSMB subcommittee monitoring this study, the PI, and the NHLBI Project Officer.
- The SDMC will not file a report of rebounds if the FET p-value is less than 0.025 or if the relative risk is less than 1.

TABLE D. Summary of Procedures and Timing for Alerting the DSMB and NHLBIProject Officer of Possible Serious Safety Issues

Situation or Event	Summary of Procedure (See text for details.)	Critical Value for DSMB "Alert"
Unexpected SAE	1. Site investigator notifies SDMC SAE Regulatory Specialist and Principal Investigator within 8 hours.	Alert all cases.
	2. Site investigator, SDMC SAE Regulatory Specialist	Alert all cases.
	and Principal Investigator prepare report using FDA	
	forms and submit report to DSMB, NHLBI Project	
	Officer, IRBs, study investigators. Report:	
	1. Fatal or life-threatening: within 7 calendar days.	
	2. Otherwise: within 14 calendar days.	
Expected	1. SDMC performs quarterly analyses of MedDRA-	p < 0.01
SAE	coded SAEs, tabulates patients with SAEs classified	p not adjusted for
	by highest level MedDRA term. Report only when p <	multiplicity
	critical value and active treatment group has higher	
	AE rate.	
	2. The SDMC will report the following SAEs quarterly	Report all cases
	to the DSMB, regardless of incidence rates:	
	 Development of clinically significant 	
	alloantibodies	
	 Development of autoantibodies associated 	
	with hemolysis that result in inability to	
	transfuse safely.	
	 Development of clinically significant 	
	hemolytic transfusion reactions.	
Adverse	SDMC performs semi-annual analyses of MedDRA-	p < 0.01
Events (all)	coded AEs, tabulates patients with AEs classified by	p not adjusted for
	highest level MedDRA term. Report every 6 months.	multiplicity
	Alert only when FET p < critical value and active	
	treatment group has higher AE rate.	

F. Protocol Deviations

Definition of a Protocol Deviation

Protocol deviations occur when there is non-adherence to the protocol, including failure to follow informed consent, safety surveillance and enrollment procedures or to adhere to good clinical practices. Deviations may occur when there is non-adherence to study procedures or schedules by either the subject or investigator, as specified by the protocol.

Source Documentation for Protocol Deviations

All deviations from the protocol must be addressed in study subject source documentation, and should include the reasons for the deviation and all attempts to prevent or correct it. For example, documentation of a missed visit would properly consist of a note explaining the missed visit and the site's attempt to locate the study subject to request that he/she come in to make up that visit.

Sites need to document all protocol deviations on a Protocol Deviation Form. Deviations should be documented as they occur, and the documented information should include:

- Date of the deviation,
- Description of the deviation,
- Reason for the deviation, and
- A corrective action plan to assure future protocol compliance

A separate protocol deviation form should be completed for each occurrence, and the site PI must sign the form. All protocol deviations must be reported promptly to the SDMC Study Coordinator and to the study site's Institutional Review Boards (IRB) per the IRB's Standard Operating Procedures.

Reporting Timeframes

Deviations that affect subject safety or integrity of the data should be reported to the SDMC within three days. Other deviations should be reported to the SDMC within thirty days of occurrence.

Types of typical protocol deviations include, but are not limited to:

- Randomization errors
- Missed visits or mistimed visits
- Missed procedures or assessments
- Inclusion/Exclusion errors
- Patient Safety

CSCC PROTOCOL DEVIATION FORM

Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome

Complete a new form for each deviation from the protocol

SITE NAME: ABC University SUBJECT CSCC ID NUMBER: 1234567 SUBJECT RANDOMIZED? NO Yes NA STUDY DAY NUMBER: 3						
Complete a new	form for each devia	tion from the	e protocol.			
Date of protoco	l deviation: <u>11</u> /	<u>15</u> / <u>04</u>	(MM/DD/	YY)		
Description of de	viation from protocol:	Visit 2 falls o	utside of the	<u>e window f</u>	for the	
<u>visit</u>						
Reason for devia <u>due to a death in</u>	tion from protocol: <u>St</u> the family	ubject was una	ble to come	e in for visi	<u>it during the</u>	window
Did this deviation result in an adverse experience? ☑ No ☐ Yes (If yes, complete AE form) Will the subject continue with the study? □ No ☑ Yes Does this deviation meet IRB reporting requirements? ☑ No □ Yes						
Based on your IR	B reporting guidelines,	, when does th	is protocol	deviation r	need to be r	eported
to your IRB? Doe	es not need IRB report	ing				
What steps were	What steps were taken to resolve this deviation and prevent recurrence? <u>checked with study PI.</u>					
<u>Dr. Vichinsky, and</u>	<u>d he approved the dev</u>	iation for the s	ubject to co	ontinue the	<u>study</u>	
COMPLETED BY (print and sign):						
Print Name: <u>Site Study Coordinator Name</u> Signature:						
DATE: / (MM/DD/YY)						
Investigator's Signature: <u>Site Investigator</u> / / / (MM/DD/YY)						
Date Submitted/	/Faxed To:		(MN	M/DD/YY))	
	ite IRB		_	/	/	-
	DMC 919-408-0999		_	/	/	-
)ther, specify:			/	/	

XI General Study Policies Dexamethasone Study Information Manual Version 3.0
G. Source Documentation

Source documents are the original records, or source, from which data recorded on the Case Report Forms, was obtained. When source documents exist, they must be maintained in the subject's file, so that information on the Case Report Forms can be traced to, and verified from, the source.

Activity	Source Document	Case Report Form
Informed consent	Signed consent form	N/A
Inclusion/exclusion criteria	Worksheet and Medical	Inclusion criteria and
	Records	Exclusion criteria pages
Randomization	Worksheet & RhoRAND	Randomization page
Height, weight, gender, date	Medical Records	Demographics Page
of birth, physical exam and		
sickle cell diagnosis		
Medical History	Medical Records	Medical History Page
Emergency Room,	Medical Records &	History of Hospital, Clinics,
hospitalization, clinic visits,	worksheets with subject/parent	ED; Hospital Discharge;
hospital discharge dates	report if Med Rec not	Interim Health History pages
	available	
Study Drug	Medical records for in-patient	Study drug page
	dosing & Subject Drug Diary	
	for out-patient dosing	
Concomitant Medications	Medical Records	Medication History page
Opioids use	Medical Records	Opioids quantified page
Fluid Balance	Medical Records	Fluid Balance page
Pulse Oximetry	Medical Records &	Pulse oximetry page
	worksheets	
Oxygen saturation	Medical records & worksheets	Oxygen saturation page
Pain Intensity Ratings	NRS and Oucher worksheets	Pain Intensity Rating Page
Vital Signs	Medical Records	Vital Signs Page
Blood culture	Medical Records	Blood culture page
Hematology, reticulocyte	Lab results report from	Hematology and reticulocyte
Labs	Medical Records	Labs page
Biomarker Labs	Central Lab Tracking Log	RhoLAB
Pregnancy test	Medical records	Pregnancy Test page
Chest radiograph	Medical Records	Chest radiograph page
Check ACS Assessments	worksheets	ACS CRF pages
transfusions	Medical Records	Transfusion Record page
Pulmonary function testing	medical & clinic records	PFT page
Study completion	Medical records & worksheets	Study Completion CRF page

The table below defines the source document and Case Report Form page for each study activity.

XII. Regulatory Documents

The following documents are provided as part of the Regulatory Packet:

- Regulatory Packet Instructions
- FDA Form 1572
- Financial Disclosure Forms for both American Regent Laboratories, Inc. and Roxane Laboratories, Inc.
- Dexamethasone Signature and Responsibility Log

All of these documents can be found on the secure CSCC website on the Dexamethasone Study page. These documents must be completed by all sites for all investigators and study coordinators that are listed on the 1572 form before study initiation. Please return the completed documents to the SDMC Clinical Trials Associate, Holly Forde (<u>holly_forde@rhoworld.com</u>) and retain a copy of each in your site Regulatory Binder.

CSCC Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers

Clinical Trials Consortium

Dexamethasone Regulatory Packet Instructions October 5, 2006

Section A: FDA form 1572

- □ Item # 1: site Principal Investigator name and address
- □ Item #2: Include copy of current professional license. Check CV is no more than 2 years old. Sign/date front page.
- □ Item #3: mailing address of P.I's hospital
- □ Item #4: name and mailing address of local clinical lab
- □ Item #5: site's IRB mailing address
- □ Item #6: names of subinvestigators at this site.
- □ Item #6: CVs (no more than 2 yrs old) and current professional license for all subinvestigators listed. Sign/date front page.
- □ Item #7: enter "Randomized Trial of Oral Dexamethasone for Acute Chest Syndrome".
- □ Item #8: check box for Phase 2 or 3
- □ Item #9: review. Print out completed document
- □ Item #10: signature
- □ Item #11: enter date completed. Make a copy for your study records.
- □ Financial Disclosure Forms for each PI and Sub I. Make a copy for your study records.
- □ Laboratory certification(s) (CLIA preferred).
- □ Laboratory normal ranges for CBC with reticulocyte counts, containing lab name (or other identifier linking the ranges to the laboratory) and version date.
- □ Mail original signed/dated 1572 and P.I.'s CV and copy of medical license via FedEx prior to study initiation.

Section B: Required Documents for Study Initiation

- Training documentation for PI and each Sub-Investigator on the Protection of Human Subjects in Research. Examples of acceptable documentation include rosters from training sessions, copy of a completion certificate or a note from the training group. The NIH offers free online training at <u>http://cme.nci.nih.gov/</u> that provides documentation via certificate.
- □ Investigator Protocol/Protocol Amendment Agreement Page(s): signed and dated original(s). This is page 2 of the protocol, and is not available until you receive the final version of the protocol.

- □ IRB Compliance Documentation: FWA # and IRB roster if available. If a roster is not available, a statement from the IRB of CFR compliance will suffice.
- IRB Approval Documentation: The IRB approval letter must identify the principal investigator or sub-investigator by name, reference all approved documents (protocol, informed consent, advertisements if applicable) including version numbers and version dates.
- □ IRB Approved ICF's and advertisements if applicable.
- Please submit the following regulatory documents prior to study initiation at your site.